
 

West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee 
agenda 
Date: Wednesday 5 July 2023 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Venue: Amersham Council Chamber, King George V House, King George V Road, 
Amersham HP6 5AW 

Membership: 

A Alam, M Ayub, A Baughan, I Hussain, D Johncock, N Marshall (Chairman), C Oliver (Vice-
Chairman), S Raja, M Turner, P Turner and K Wood 

Webcasting notice 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
being filmed. 

You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s 
published policy. 

Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the 
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit. 

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Legal & Democratic Service 
Director at monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Public Speaking 

If you have any queries concerning public speaking at Planning Committee meetings, 
including registering your intention to speak, please speak to a member of the Planning 
team – planning.wyc@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 01494  421493. Please refer to the Guide to 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee here. 

  

mailto:monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
mailto:planning.wyc@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13577


Agenda Item 
 

Page No 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  
    
2 Declarations of Interest  
 To receive any disclosure of disclosable pecuniary interests by 

Members relating to items on the agenda. If any Member is uncertain 
as to whether an interest should be disclosed, he or she is asked if 
possible to contact the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that if they are declaring an interest they 
should state the nature of that interest whether or not they are 
required to withdraw from the meeting. 
 

 

 
3 Minutes of the Last Meeting 3 - 6 
 To note the minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2023. 

 
 

 
Planning Applications 
  
4 21/08463/FUL - 280 Main Road, Walters Ash, Buckinghamshire, HP14 

4TH 
7 - 38 

    
5 22/07562/FUL - OS Parcel 1332 Chalkshire Road, Butlers Cross, 

Buckinghamshire 
39 - 80 

    
6 22/08199/R9FUL - The Guildhall, Cornmarket, High Wycombe, 

Buckinghamshire, HP11 2AY 
81 - 90 

    
7 WITHDRAWN. 22/08200/LBC - The Guildhall, Cornmarket, High 

Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP11 2AY 
 

    
8 23/06128/FUL - 48 Eastwood Road, Stokenchurch, Buckinghamshire, 

HP14 3SW 
91 - 98 

    
9 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 Wednesday 2 August 2023 at 6.30pm at King George V House, Council 

Offices, Amersham, HP6 5AW 
 

 

 
10 Availability of Members Attending Site Visits (if required)  
 To confirm members’ availability to undertake site visits on Tuesday 1 

August 2023 if required. 
 

 

 
If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of 
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support 
in place. For further information please contact: Liz Hornby on 01494 421261, email 
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 



 

 

West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee 
minutes 
Minutes of the meeting of the West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee held on 
Wednesday 7 June 2023 in Amersham Council Chamber, King George V House, King George 
V Road, Amersham HP6 5AW, commencing at 6.30 pm and concluding at 8.00 pm. 

Members present 

M Ayub, A Baughan, I Hussain, D Johncock, N Marshall, C Oliver, S Raja, N Rana, M Turner, 
P Turner and K Wood 

Others in attendance 

K Asif, V Burdett, T Coppock, L Hornby, C Irvine, R Martin and A Thomas 

Apologies 

A Alam 

Agenda Item 
 
1 Appointment of Vice-Chairman 
 Members noted the appointment of Councillor C Oliver as the Vice -Chairman of the 

West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee for the Municipal Year 2023/24. 
  

2 Declarations of Interest 
 Councillor D Johncock: Planning Application 22/07162/FUL – declared an interest 

due to being a member of the Parish Council but that he had not taken part in any 
debate or consultation relating to the application. He declared that he had an open 
mind and would listen to the debate before reaching a decision.  
  
Councillor S Raja: Planning Application 22/06882/FUL – declared that he was a ward 
member but would not speak as a ward member and remain as a committee 
member.  
  
Councillor S Raja: Planning Application 22/07162/FUL – declared an interest due to 
the applicant being a ward member in the same ward and that they had not 
discussed the application. He declared that he had an open mind and would listen to 
the debate before reaching a decision. 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Councillor N Rana: Planning Application 22/07162/FUL – declared an interest due to 
the applicant being a personal family friend as well as Council colleague. She stated 
that she would vacate the Chamber for the duration of the debate and voting on the 
item.  
  
Councillor K Wood: Planning Application 22/07162/FUL – declared an interest due 
to being a member of the Parish Council but that she had not taken part in any 
debate or consultation relating to the application. She declared that the application 
was within her Ward. She declared that she had an open mind and would listen to 
the debate before reaching a decision.  
  
En bloc: Planning Application 22/07162/FUL – it was noted that all Members of the 
Committee knew of the applicant due to him being a Councillor. 
  

3 Minutes of the Last Meetings 
 The Minutes of the meetings held on 12 April 2023 and 17 May 2023 were agreed as 

an accurate record.  
  

4 DEFERRED: 21/08463/FUL - 280 Main Road, Walters Ash, Buckinghamshire, HP14 
4TH 

 This application was deferred prior to the meeting.  
  

5 22/06882/FUL - The Beaconsfield Arms, 110 Hughenden Road, High Wycombe, 
Buckinghamshire, HP13 5PB 

 Change of use from Public House (Sui Generis) to 8-bed HMO. 
  
This application was the subject of a site visit. 
  
Members noted the written update. 
  
Following a full debate, Members voted in favour of the motion to delegate approval 
to officers subject to the conditions listed in the report as amended by the update 
and the following: 
  

      Condition 11 shall have the word maintenance added to read “All external 
facades of the building currently known as The Beaconsfield Arms and the 
hanging sign on the site shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of 
the development on all external elevations as part of the development.  

      That reference in Condition 3 to windows facing the A4128, Hughenden Road 
and Hamilton Road to be made unopenable be removed but that reference 
to mechanical ventilation remain.  

      A condition be added that prior to commencement of the scheme, all ‘lean-
to’s’ be removed.  

       A planning obligation in respect of the £5,000 offered by the applicant as 
mitigation for the loss of the community asset.  

  

Page 4



 

 

Speaking as Ward Member: Councillor T Green 
  
It was proposed by Councillor C Oliver and seconded by Councillor D Johncock 
  

Resolved: that the application be delegated for approval to officers for the 
reasons as stated above.  

  
6 22/07162/FUL - Little Farm, London Road, Loudwater, Buckinghamshire, HP10 9RF 
 Conversion of existing barns to form 2 x 2-bed dwellings and 1 x 3-bed dwelling (3 

residential units in total) with associated external alterations.  
  
This application was the subject of a site visit. 
  
Members noted the written update.  
  
Members voted in favour of the motion to approve the application in accordance 
with officer’s recommendation (as amended by the written update). 
  
It was proposed by Councillor N Marshall and seconded by Councillor K Wood. 
  
            Resolved: that the application be approved.  
  

7 Date and Time of Next Meeting 
 Wednesday 5 July 2023 at 6.30pm at King George V House, Council Offices, 

Amersham, HP6 5AW. 
  

8 Availability of Members Attending Site Visits (if required) 
   

Resolved: that in the event it was necessary to arrange site visits on Tuesday 4 
July 2023 in respect of the agenda for the meeting to be held on Wednesday 5 
July 2023, the following members be invited to attend: 
  
Councillors: A Baughan, D Johncock and C Oliver 

  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 
 

Report to West Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: 21/08463/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed demolition of existing commercial buildings on 
site and replacement with mixed use development 
consisting of Retail to ground floor and 4 x self contained 
flats to first floor with associated landscaping, parking, 
works to accesses and servicing for both uses 

Site Location: 280 Main Road 
Walters Ash 
Buckinghamshire 
HP14 4TH 
 

Applicant: Mr N Smith 

Case Officer: Jenny Ion 

Ward(s) affected: Ridgeway East 

Parish-Town Council: Hughenden Parish Council 

Date valid application received: 25th November 2021 

Statutory determination date: 20th January 2022 

Recommendation Approval 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing buildings on the site 
and its redevelopment for a mixed use, comprising a retail unit on the ground floor and 
four, two-bedroom flats above.  The proposal also involves the alteration of the two 
existing access points to the site and the provision of parking and landscaping.  The 
historic use of the site was as a builder’s yard, then for mixed use for storage, offices 
and a builder’s yard.  Most recently the site has been occupied by a tyre business.  

1.2 Cllr Broadbent called in the application for consideration by Planning Committee on 
the basis that the development represents a significant change of use to the site with 
associated impacts upon neighbours and the community at large. Significant local 
concern is expressed about a loss of privacy, the inclusion of a mixed development and 
the wider operational impacts of the proposed use. 

1.3 The application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 The proposal is for the redevelopment of the existing employment site for a mixed use 
for retail and residential purposes.  The site was a builder’s yard for many years, used 
by J Smith and Sons until 1996, and it is understood to still be owned by the company.  
Permission was granted in 1998 for the mixed use of the site as a builder’s yard, 
storage, and offices, on a temporary basis, with permission being granted for that on 
a permanent basis being granted in 2002. 

2.2 More recently the site has been occupied by a tyre fitting business (since at least 2016, 
possibly earlier) using the site as a depot and head office.   

2.3 It is now proposed to redevelop the entire site for a mixed use, comprising a ground 
floor retail unit, designed as a convenience store, with four flats above.  All the existing 
buildings on the site, which are predominantly along the rear (northeast) boundary 
and along the side (northwest boundary), would be demolished.    

2.4 The application is for a single building, located more or less centrally on the site.  The 
two-storey element would be located towards the front of the site, facing Main Road, 
with a single storey projection to the rear.  The retail unit would be located in the 
ground floor at the front of the site, with the associated storage area in the rear part 
of the building.   

2.5 Four flats, each with two bedrooms, would be at first floor level.  Access to the flats 
would be from the side of the building, with both stairs and a lift providing access to 
the first floor.  Each flat would have its own balcony and access to a small communal 
roof terrace on the area of flat roof immediately to the rear of the first floor. 

2.6 The proposal retains the two points of vehicular access, with both moved slightly to 
the southeast.  The left-hand access would serve the parking area for the flats and the 
service access for the retail unit.  The right-hand access would serve the customer 
parking area.  The scheme also includes landscaping and tree planting within and 
around the parking areas. 

2.7 The proposed building would provide a 279 square metre sales area with a store just 
under 133 square metres behind.  The four flats are all two bedroom3 person units.   

2.8 The building has been designed in a contemporary style, using brick for the ground 
floor and grey cladding for the upper floor.  The latter is cantilevered and projects 
beyond the ground floor footprint on the south east side.  The building would have flat 
roofs, with the main two storey roof as a green roof with solar panels.  The roof of the 
single storey element would provide a small area as a communal terrace for the flats, 
the remainder being a green roof, with some areas reserved for plant and machinery.    

2.9 The application is accompanied by  

a) Ecology and Trees Checklist 
b) Ecological Appraisal 
c) Design and Access Statement 
d) SuDS report 
e) Retail Statement 
f) Ground Investigation Report 
g) Tree Constrains Plan 

Page 8



2.10 During the course of the application there have been revisions and updates to the 
Ecological Appraisal, including the provision of a Technical Briefing Note and a 
Biodiversity Metric, to the SuDS proposals, and to the Landscape Master Plan. 

2.11 This application was deferred prior to the last planning committee as an issue 
regarding the boundary at the north corner of the site.  The applicant has submitted 
amended plans redrawing that boundary.  This has resulted in a change to the position 
of one parking space and the re-drawing of the tracking for the delivery lorry.  The 
agent has also extend the proposed wall along the side boundary around that rear 
corner. 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 97/05361/OUT - Erection of four detached dwellings.  Refused 

3.2 98/05287/FUL - Temporary change of use to a mixed use of storage and offices and 
builders yard (retrospective).  Permitted 

3.3 00/05500/VCDN - Variation of condition 1 (time limit) on p/p 98/05287/FUL to allow 
continued use of site for mixed use of storage, offices and builders yard until 31.12.01.  
Permitted 

3.4 02/05115/FUL - Continued use of site for mixed use of storage, offices & builder's yard.  
Permitted 

3.5 08/06101/FUL - Continued mixed use of site for storage and offices. Change of use 
from Builders Yard to Vehicle workshop facilities.  Refused 

3.6 There have also been a number of applications for display of signage. 

4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

Principle and Location of Development 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP1 (Sustainable Development), CP3 
(Settlement Strategy), CP4 (Delivering Homes), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, 
Transport and Energy Generation) 
DSA: DM1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development), DM5 (Scattered business 
sites) DM6 (Mixed-use development) 

4.1 The site is located within and existing Tier 3 settlement.  It is currently in employment 
use and constitutes previously developed land.  In this location redevelopment is 
therefore acceptable in principle subject to complying with the relevant development 
plan policies.  The relevant issues are therefore addressed below.   

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM22 (Housing Mix), DM24 (Affordable 
Housing), DM41 (Optional Technical Standards for Building Regulations Approval) 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (POSPD) 

4.2 The proposal is below the threshold for the provision of affordable housing.   

Employment issues 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP5 (Delivering Land for Business) 
DSA: DM5 (Scattered business sites) 

4.3 The site is currently in an employment generating use and as such is regarded as a 
Scattered Business Site under Policy DM5.  Redevelopment of such sites is acceptable 

Page 9



in principle for alternative employment uses, or for community or town centre uses.  
In this case the proposal is for a retail unit, which falls within the definition of a town 
centre use.  As such development for retail use is acceptable in principle.  The retail 
use would continue to provide jobs on the site and as such is acceptable in relation to 
Policy DM5.   

4.4 The scheme does also include an element of residential use.  Were the scheme for 
residential use only the applicant would be required to demonstrate that use of 
employment use, or a town centre or community use, was not practicable on the site.  
However, given the retail use forms a significant element of the proposals, and the 
retail and residential elements are inseparable due to the design and layout, it is 
considered that providing a residential element in addition to a policy compliant retail 
use is acceptable.   

Retail issues 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP6 (Securing Vibrant and High Quality Town 
Centres) 
DSA: DM7 (Town centre boundaries), DM8 (The Primary shopping areas), DM9 (District 
centres), DM10 (Threshold for the assessment of schemes for town centre impact) 

4.5 The proposal would provide a convenience store of 279 square metres with a customer 
retail area of 133 square metres.  As set out above, town centre uses, such as retail, 
accord with the Council’s policy on the redevelopment of scattered employment sites.   

4.6 The site itself is not within a designated centre and Policy CP10 of the DSA sets out the 
threshold for impact assessments for retail proposals which would not be in a 
designated centre.  The scheme is below the thresholds for impact on High Wycombe 
town centre and Princes Risborough (1000 sqm and 500sqm respectively) and is 
located more than 3km from a designated District Centre (Hazlemere, Bourne End and 
Flackwell Heath).  

4.7  In this instance it is therefore only necessary to consider impacts on Local Centres – 
that is other local parades and village centres which provide a basic range of small 
shops and services of a local nature which serve a predominantly local catchment with 
walking distance of the centre.  The purpose of the assessment is to assess the capacity 
for comparison goods shopping in the locality and whether a new unit on this site 
would harm the viability of existing retail units in the vicinity. 

4.8 The application is accompanied by a retail statement, this has assessed the impact on 
both Walters Ash and Naphill.   Walters Ash has a small group of facilities a short 
distance to the northwest, including the petrol station, Co-op, dentist, barber, optician 
and coffee shop, with facilities in Naphill being more dispersed and including the Post 
Office, estate agent and take away. 

4.9 The facility is designed as a convenience store and the report identifies that the 
majority of trade would come from within Walters Ash, some from Naphill, with the 
remainder from people passing through the village, e.g. on a commute to work.  As 
such is unlikely to divert trade from businesses which do not provide an equivalent 
offer such as the hairdresser or takeaway. 

4.10 The main diversion of spending would be from retail outlets in Princes Risborough and 
High Wycombe.  The level of trade diversion relative to the overall level of trade in 
those centres would not be significant and would not undermine their vitality or 
viability.   The report concludes that there would be some limited impact on the Post 

Page 10



Office in Naphill and the store at the petrol station in Walters Ash.  There would be 
some impact on the Co-op in Walters Ash but this would not be so severe as to threaten 
the future of that store.  

4.11 It is therefore concluded that the proposal would provide additional convenience store 
facilities within the local area which would, largely, retain spending within the area 
which currently takes place in larger settlements in the wider area.  The proposal would 
not have an adverse impact on the local centres and therefore is acceptable in relation 
to policies DM10 and CP6.  

Transport matters and parking 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation) 

4.12 The proposal involves altering the existing access points into the site and forming two 
separate parking areas, one for customer parking, the other for the flats and staff.  The 
latter area would also provide access to the service area for the retail unit.   

4.13 The Highway Officer is satisfied that vision splays can be provided to the appropriate 
standard for both access points.  In addition, the highway network can accommodate 
the increase in vehicle movements associated with the change of use.  The site layout 
demonstrates that a delivery lorry could access the service area and turn within the 
site to leave in forward gear.  Also, each access is wide enough for two vehicles to 
access and egress the site simultaneously.  As such there is no objection to the proposal 
on highway safety grounds. 

4.14 The proposed parking is split into two areas, one on either side of the building, each 
with a separate access.  The parking area on the southeast side would be for retail 
customer parking only.  The parking area on the northwest side would provide for 
residents parking, along with two spaces for shop staff, and a delivery vehicle parking 
and turning area.  It is proposed to divide the parking in this way to prevent conflict 
between resident and customer parking, and delivery vehicle and customer parking.  
The use of appropriate signage could make it clear which access serves which area.  

4.15 The proposal includes 16 parking spaces for customer parking for the retail unit, three 
of which would be disabled spaces.  A further two staff parking spaces are proposed in 
the service yard, giving a total of 18 spaces for the retail unit.  This is one space less 
than the parking requirement for a retail unit of less than 1000 square metres in this 
location.   Six parking spaces are proposed for the flats.  The flats each have no more 
than four habitable rooms therefore the parking guidance requires one space per flat 
a total of four spaces.  The two additional spaces make provision for visitor parking 
over and above that required by the guidance.  Overall, the development makes 
provision for 24 spaces, against an assessed combined requirement of 23 spaces.  The 
Highway Officer has indicated the overall provision of parking is acceptable on highway 
grounds.   

4.16 In addition to vehicle parking a motorcycle parking space is also provided along with 
cycle stands for the retail unit.  A covered secure cycle store is provided within the 
building for the residential units.  The proposal therefore makes provision for sufficient 
parking of all types. 

4.17 The site is located on a main road with a regular bus service and can be accessed by 
alternative means of transport in addition to the private car.  The layout provides for 

Page 11



pedestrian access to the front of the store from the footway, and a dedicated footway 
to the entrance to the flats. 

Raising the quality of place making and design 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of place), DM34 (Delivering Green 
Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development), DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure),  
Housing intensification SPD 

4.18 The site is located within an existing settlement which is within the Chilterns AONB.  
Great weight must be given to the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
beauty of the AONB.  The site is viewed within the context of the built-up frontage 
along Main Road.  This is predominantly, but not exclusively, residential in character, 
with the majority of buildings dating from the mid-20th Century, including bungalows, 
two storey dwellings, and commercial buildings such as the petrol station, and those 
at the RAF base.   

4.19 The proposed development is for a retail unit, with residential units above, and the 
applicant has therefore selected a contemporary design approach to reflect the nature 
of the proposed use.  The option of attempting to design a pseudo-residential style 
building was rejected, given that the proportions required for a retail unit do not lend 
themselves to this approach. 

4.20 The proposed building would be constructed using a mix of traditional and 
contemporary materials, comprising Bucks multi or similar bricks for the ground floor 
with full length windows on two sides and dark gey metallic panels to clad the first 
floor, with silver grey projecting window reveals.  Balconies have been designed as an 
integral part of the building for the upper floor flats.  The building would have a flat 
roofed design, which enables solar panels to be sited on the roof, and the use of a 
green roof, which is of benefit in terms of both biodiversity and surface water drainage.   

4.21 The use of the flat roof also means that the overall height of the building is in keeping 
with that of neighbouring buildings.  The building itself would have an overall frontage 
width of 24.8 metres, with a gap of over 12.5 metres to the northwest side boundary 
and 11.5 metres to the southeast side boundary.  Excluding the railings around the 
roof, the building would be 7.5 metre high.  There is a slight slope across the site and 
the building would be set down slightly from the pavement level.  The height of the 
building would be below that of the property to the northwest, and slightly above that 
of the property to the southeast, which reflects the general change in levels along the 
road. 

4.22 The proposal also includes the provision of access and parking either side of the 
building, and an area of hardstanding to the front which would incorporate a small 
seating area along with cycle parking and a disabled parking spaces.  A detailed 
landscaping scheme has been included with the application which shows the provision 
of a dozen new trees, hedge planting around much of the perimeter and shrub planting 
across the frontage, to replace the existing boundary hedge.   

4.23 In your officer’s opinion the design, scale and massing of the building area acceptable 
in this location.  Although the contemporary design differs from the domestic style of 
the neighbouring dwellings, given the wider context, which exhibits a variety of 
designs, including several flat roofed buildings, the proposed building is of acceptable 
design quality and visual interest for this location.  Its height is consistent with 

Page 12



surrounding development, and the use of brick with dark cladding above references 
the traditional approach of using brick with a darker material for the roof above.  Large 
gaps would be maintained to the sides of the buildings giving a sense of space around 
the building.  There would be significantly more planting, including a variety of trees, 
compared to the existing situation of a site largely covered in buildings and 
hardstanding, with little planting.   

Amenity of existing and future residents 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality), DM40 
(Internal space standards) 

4.24 The proposed flats would all be two-bedroom, three person flats and would meet and 
exceed the internal space standards for dwellings of this size.  Each flat would have its 
own balcony which would measure 1.5 x 4 metres, which provides an adequate 
amount of space to sit out. A small terrace is also proposed to the rear to supplement 
the balcony space.   

4.25 Each flat would have sufficient light and natural ventilation.  Two of the flats would be 
dual aspect, the other two flats are shown to have the addition of a rooflight over the 
living / kitchen space to provide more light / ventilation.   

4.26 With regard to the impact on neighbouring properties the building is set well in from 
the side boundaries and will not therefore result in loss of light to the immediate 
neighbours to the side.  The two-storey element of the building is set towards the front 
of the site, with a gap of 17 metres (excluding the stair well) to the rear boundary.   

4.27 The single storey element projects down the site – this wing would be 4.3 metre high.  
The two properties immediately to the rear, nos. 20 and 21 Allen Drive, have their 
garages located between them and these project up to the rear boundary of the site.  
The rear wing would be behind these garages with a gap of over 3.5 metres to the 
boundary.   

4.28 The existing buildings are located at the rear of the site – these will all be removed.  
These extend across the rear of no. 20 Allen Drive and up to the boundary with Stoney 
Ash.  The plans indicate that a retaining wall and acoustic fence would be erected on 
the boundary following the removal of these buildings.  It is considered that the 
proposed building will have an acceptable impact on the properties to the rear in terms 
of loss of light and enclosure.  In some respects, these properties will have a more open 
aspect to the rear, following the removal of existing buildings. 

4.29 With regard to potential overlooking, no. 288 Main Road has a side facing window in 
its flank elevation, however the windows proposed in the flank elevation facing this 
would be obscure glazed.  Iona, on the southeast side, has no openings in the flank 
elevation.  The proposed plans indicated an obscure glazed window, a high-level 
window and one clear glazed window in the flank elevation facing Iona.  Given the 
degree of separation from the boundary, and existing boundary screening this would 
not result in an unacceptable loss of privacy. 

4.30 The proposed roof terrace to the rear of the development would be screened by 
proposed planting and further planting is proposed around the perimeter of the flat 
roof, which will together screen the outlook from the rear balcony and terrace.   

4.31 The rear windows would be at a distance of 23.5 metres from the properties in Allen 
Drive.  Although slightly below the guide figure of 25 metres the proposal would still 
maintain an acceptable degree of privacy for the properties at the rear.  The projecting 

Page 13



rear wing, distance and boundary treatment would prevent overlooking to the rear 
gardens and ground floor.   

4.32 In terms of the impact of activity and associated noise and disturbance on surrounding 
properties, the site is currently in commercial use, which includes deliveries to the site 
and vehicles arriving and leaving, without any restrictions on hours of use.  Proposed 
hours of use have not been provided as the intended occupier is not yet known, 
however it would be possible to condition hours of use and deliveries to protect the 
amenities of neighbouring properties.  Conditions are therefore proposed which 
restrict opening to hours similar to other retail units in the locality, with further 
restrictions on the hours of deliveries.  Around the service yard the northern corner of 
the site would be screened by a brick wall, to provide acoustic screening, with the 
remainder of the rear boundary screened by acoustic fencing, which would provide 
further protection for the adjacent properties.   

4.33 It is proposed to condition the approval of details of any external plant/machinery to 
ensure that they would not have an adverse impact on amenity.  In this regard, the 
properties closest to any roof top plant would be the flats within the development 
itself. 

4.34 Subject to the imposition of conditions relating to boundary screening, the screening 
around the roof terrace, obscure glazing, plant, and hours of use and deliveries it is 
considered, having regard to the existing use and disposition of buildings on the site, 
that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact on the amenities 
of neighbouring properties.   

Environmental issues 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), DM20 (Matters to be determined in accordance with the NPPF) 

4.35 Due to the former use of the site, and its location within 250m of a former landfill site, 
a ground investigation report has been submitted with the application.  This has 
identified elevated levels of some contaminants and of CO2.  Environmental Services 
have advised that, subject to conditions to address this contamination, the 
development would not propose a risk to future occupiers of the site.   

4.36 Refuse facilities are incorporated in the scheme for both the retail and residential 
elements of the scheme.  The residential bin store is adjacent to the main entrance to 
the flats and the store for the retail unit is in the service area to the rear.  

4.37 The adopted Air Quality SPD requires the provision of car charging points in connection 
with all minor developments.  This is to reduce air pollution within the Council’s Air 
Quality Management Areas.  Whilst the site is not within an AQMA it is likely that traffic 
generated by the development would travel through the AQMA to access services in 
higher order centres such as High Wycombe.   

4.38 The scheme includes provision for electric vehicle charging points.  Four points would 
be provided for the residential element of the scheme, on shared posts, and four points 
would also be provided for the retail element.  Two of these would be provided to 
serve the disabled spaces at the front of the site, with a further two in the rear parking 
area.  This meets the requirements of the Air Quality SPD.  This also meets the 
objectives of Policies CP12 and DM33 to address carbon emissions and climate change. 

 

Page 14



Flooding and drainage 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM39 (Managing Flood Risk and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) 

4.39 The site is at risk of surface water flooding.  This may well be attributable to the fact 
that the majority of the site is covered in buildings and hardstanding.  As required by 
Policy DM39 the development is required to demonstrate that it would not increase 
the risk of flooding on the site or elsewhere and would satisfactorily manage surface 
water drainage.   

4.40 Site investigations have indicated that due to the ground conditions infiltration is not 
a suitable method of managing surface water on this site.  The proposed scheme 
includes the use of permeable paving, the green roof and active rainwater harvesting.  
Any overflow from the rainwater harvesting tanks would be to an attenuation tank 
from which there would be controlled discharge to the combined sewer.   

4.41 The proposed surface water drainage strategy has been the subject of a number of 
revisions and clarifications and the Lead Local Flood Authority is now satisfied that the 
development can achieve a suitable scheme of surface water management which 
would not increase the risk of surface water flooding on the site or elsewhere.   

Landscape issues and landscape and visual Impact  
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019):  CP9 (Sense of place), DM30 (Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty) DM32 (Landscape character and Settlement Patterns), DM34 
(Delivering Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure), 

4.42 The application site is surrounded on three sides by existing built development.  On 
the opposite side of the road to the site there is some residential development and the 
allotments, beyond which is woodland. The visual impact of the development will 
therefore be largely to local views, and the development would not have any 
significant impact on the wider landscape.  Given that it would be viewed in the context 
of the built-up area the development would not harm the wider AONB natural 
landscape. 

4.43 Concern has been expressed about potential light pollution from the development, 
including light spillage from the upper floor.  The first floor would be at a similar, 
although slightly higher, level than the upper floors of the two storey houses along the 
length of Main Road.  In addition, the full length glazing would be recessed behind the 
balconies, the enclosure of which would limit light spillage from within the first floor 
of the building.  Since it would not be dissimilar to surrounding development in this 
respect, this is considered to have an acceptable impact.  

4.44 The plans indicate low level 1 metre high lighting bollards at intervals around the car 
park.  This is reasonable to light these areas for the benefit of users of the car park.  It 
is proposed to require details of any additional external lighting to be agreed by way 
of a condition, including the hours of illumination.  This would be of benefit both to 
visual amenity generally, the amenity of neighbouring properties, the AONB and to 
ecology, given the proposals to incorporate ecology features into the building 
construction.  

 
 
 

Page 15



Green networks and infrastructure 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth),CP9 (Sense of place), DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity in 
Development) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure) 

4.45 There is very little planting within the existing site, other than the front boundary 
hedge, a couple of poor quality trees on the north west boundary and some scrub at 
the eastern corner.  As such, the site makes little contributions towards green 
infrastructure.  The proposal would remove the existing planting and replace it with a 
significant amount of new planting.  This includes a hornbeam hedge along the rear 
and south east boundaries, shrub and hedge planting along the front boundary, 
planting within the parking area and the inclusion of 12 new trees of varying species. 
In addition the proposal incorporates a green roof.  

4.46  The proposals would therefore result in a significantly greater level of landscaping and 
increased canopy cover compared to the existing site, as required by Policy DM34.   

Ecology 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA:  DM13 (Conservation and enhancement of sites, habitats and species of biodiversity 
and geodiversity importance), DM14 (Biodiversity in development)   

4.47 Additional and revised information has been submitted with regard to biodiversity and 
ecology during the course of the application.  Biodiversity enhancements include the 
green roof and planting together with incorporating bat boxes, bird boxes, bee bricks 
and log piles into the development.  The Council’s Natural Environment Officer has 
assessed the proposals and is satisfied that the development would achieve a 
satisfactory level of biodiversity net gain (almost 47%).  Subject to appropriate 
conditions to secure a precautionary approach to demolition, the development would 
not have an adverse impact on protected species.  Conditions would be required to 
secure the mitigation and enhancement measures proposed.   

Building sustainability 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP12 (Climate Change), DM33 (Managing 
Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation), DM41 (Optional Technical Standards 
for Building Regulations Approval) 

4.48 Policy CP12 promotes mitigation and adaptation to climate change and supports the 
integration of renewable technologies into residential and commercial developments 
of all sizes.  Policy DM33 also requires the integration of renewable technologies into 
developments.   

4.49 The proposal incorporates renewable technologies, in the form of the installation of 
solar panels on the roof and air source heat pumps for the flats.  This would therefore 
accord with Policies CP12 and DM33 of the adopted Local Plan. 

4.50 The building is provided with a lift to provide access to the flats.  To meet the 
requirements of policy DM41 it will be necessary to impose a condition to ensure that 
the development would be constructed in accordance with Part M4(2) of the building 
regulations to provide accessible dwellings.  It will also be necessary to condition water 
efficiency for both the flats and retail unit.   

Page 16



Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth) 
DSA:  DM19 (Infrastructure and delivery) 

4.51 The development is a type of development where CIL would be chargeable. 

4.52 It is considered that there would not be other types of infrastructure, that will be put 
under unacceptable pressure by the development to justify financial contributions or 
the direct provision of infrastructure.  

5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

5.1 This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to 
weigh and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on 
the application. 

5.2 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 
Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

5.3 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 
the development plan policies.   

5.4 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the LPA must have due regard to the need 
to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation, regard has been given 
to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics (age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 
and sexual orientation). The application provides for the proposed demolition of 
existing commercial buildings on site and replacement with mixed use development 
consisting of Retail to ground floor and 4 x self contained flats to first floor with 
associated landscaping, parking, works to accesses and servicing for both uses. In this 
instance, it is not considered that this proposal would disadvantage any sector of 
society to a harmful extent. The development has been designed to include level 
access, lift access to the first floor and disabled parking to facilitate access for 
customers and residents with mobility issues. 

5.5 The Human Rights Act 1998 Article 1 the protection of property and the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 the right to respect for private and family life, 
have been taken into account in considering any impact of the development on 
residential amenity and the measures to avoid and mitigate impacts. It is not 
considered that the development would infringe these rights. 

Page 17



6.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

6.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2021) the Council approach decision-
taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments. 

6.2 The Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applicant/agents 
of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  

6.3 In this instance  

• was provided with pre-application advice, 
• the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit, 
• The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 

scheme/address issues. 
• The application was determined in accordance with the timescale agreed with the 

applicant. 
• The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 

applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 
application.  

7.0 Recommendation 

The application is recommended for permission subject to the following conditions and 
reasons: 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.  
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (As amended). 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the details 
contained in the planning application hereby approved and plan numbers 19-415-01 
Rev B, 19-415-02, 19-415-05 and 881-01 Rev C unless the Local Planning Authority 
otherwise first agrees in writing. 
Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure a satisfactory development of 
the site. 
  

3 Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the 
application, a schedule and/or samples of the materials and finishes for the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any work to the external finish of the development takes place. 
Thereafter, the development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 
the approved details.  
Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance. 
 

 4 Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the 
application, a schedule and/or samples of all surfacing materials shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any work to the finished 
surfaces of the development takes place.  The surfacing materials should align with the 

Page 18



requirements of the surface water drainage strategy.  Thereafter, the development 
shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved details.   
Reason: To secure a satisfactory appearance. 
 

 5 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the means of enclosure, 
including the walls and fencing to the site boundaries and the screen panels and 
planters and hedging around the roof terrace, have been fully implemented in 
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans, unless otherwise first 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The screen and boundary walls, 
fences and any other means of enclosure which are part of the approved scheme shall 
thereafter be retained in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise first 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not adversely affect the 
privacy and visual amenities at present enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, and to ensure a satisfactory environment within the development. 
 

 6 The first-floor side facing window(s) shown on drawing no. 19/415/02 to be obscurely 
glazed shall, up to a minimum height of 1.7 metres above finished floor level, be fixed 
shut (without any opening mechanism) and glazed in obscure glass. The window(s) 
shall thereafter be retained as such. 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 

 7 The dwellings hereby permitted shall be designed and built to meet the standards set 
out in Building Regulations Approved Document M4(2), unless otherwise first agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To meet the need for accessible, adaptable dwellings as required by Policy 
DM41 of the adopted Wycombe District Local Plan (2019). 
 

 8 The dwelling(s) hereby approved shall be constructed to meet as a minimum the higher 
standard of 110 litres per person per day using the fittings approach as set out in the 
'Housing: optional technical standards' guidance and prescribed by Regulation 36(2)(b) 
of the Building Regulations 2010.   
Reason: The site is in an area of serious water stress requiring water efficiency 
opportunities to be maximised; to mitigate the impacts of climate change; in the 
interests of sustainability; and to use natural resources prudently, and in accordance 
with Policy DM41 of the Wycombe District Local Plan (adopted August 2019) and 
guidance contained in the NPPF (2021). 
 

 9 The retail unit hereby permitted, shall be designed and constructed to meet a water 
efficiency standard equivalent to 'excellent' under the BREEAM rating with a maximum 
number of water credits. 
Reason: The site is in an area of serious water stress requiring water efficiency 
opportunities to be maximised; to mitigate the impacts of climate change; in the 
interests of sustainability; and to use natural resources prudently, and in accordance 
with Policy DM41 of the Wycombe District Local Plan (adopted August 2019) and 
guidance contained in the NPPF (2021).  
  

10 Prior to the development being brought into use the electric vehicle charging points 
with a minimum rating of 32 amp shown on drawing no. 19/0415/01, shall be installed 

Page 19



in the parking area serving the development.  The charging points shall thereafter be 
retained for the lifetime of the development, in working order.  
Reason: To assist in the reduction of air pollution from vehicular traffic by facilitating 
the use of electric vehicles to reduce the negative impact on the health of residents 
living within the Air Quality Management Area and to meet the requirements of 
Policies CP12 (Climate Change) and DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and 
Energy Generation) in the adopted Wycombe District Local Plan (2019). 
 

11 Prior to the commencement of development the following components of a scheme 
to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted 
to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
i)  A supplementary investigation, based on the findings of the Ground Investigation 

Report prepared by Sub Surface (Report ref. SE1474C) to provide information for 
a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including 
those off site. This should include an assessment of the potential risks to: human 
health, property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, pests, woodland 
and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, 
ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments. 

ii)  The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (i) and, based on 
these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

iii)  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these components require 
the express consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved. 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors.  A pre-commencement condition is considered necessary as the 
remediation strategy may require works which need to be carried out prior to the 
construction of the building and for the construction to be undertaken in a particular 
way to avoid pollution. 
 

12 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme and 
prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance 
programme shall be implemented. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

Page 20



The above must be undertaken in accordance with the Environment Agency's 'Land 
contamination risk management (LCRM)' guidance. 
 

13 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing within 
the next working day to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development thereafter must be carried out in accordance with the 
agreed details. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development is brought 
into use. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 
 

14 No works (other than demolition) shall begin until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed. The scheme shall also include: 
o Water quality assessment demonstrating that the total pollution mitigation index 

equals or exceeds the pollution hazard index; priority should be given to above 
ground SuDS components 

o Brownfield runoff calculations 
o Discharge from site limited to 2.0l/s 
o Drainage layout detailing the connectivity between the dwelling(s) and the 

drainage component(s), showing pipe numbers, gradients, and sizes, complete 
together with storage volumes of all SuDS component(s) 

o Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain up to 
the 1 in 30 storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between the 1 in 30 
and the 1 in 100 plus climate change storm event should be safely contained on 
site. 

o Construction details of all SuDS and drainage components 
o Details of how and when the full drainage system will be maintained, this should 

also include details of who will be responsible for the maintenance 
o Details of proposed overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance 

or failure, with demonstration of flow direction 
Reason: The reason for this condition is to ensure that a sustainable drainage strategy 
has been agreed prior to construction in accordance with Paragraph 167 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that there is a satisfactory solution to 
managing flood risk. 
 

15 Prior to the occupation of either the residential or retail elements of the proposal, the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 

Page 21



• Photographs showing the installed ecological enhancement features (as set out 
in the Roof Plan & Elevations Showing Ecology Features, the Landscape 
Masterplan and the Aspect Ecology Technical Briefing Note), the green roofs and 
other habitats which contribute to the biodiversity net gain of the site. 

• A landscape and ecological features management plan which includes the green 
roofs and will ensure that the relevant distinctiveness and condition of those 
habitats is achieved. 

Following the installation of the habitats and ecological features, they must be 
maintained accordance with the approved landscape and ecological features 
management plan for the life of the development in. 
Reason: To ensure that proposed habitats and ecological features are seen to be 
installed properly and thereafter maintained to deliver the biodiversity net gain as 
required by Policy DM34 of the adopted Wycombe District Local Plan. 
 

16 The recommended mitigation measures contained within section 6 of the Aspect 
Ecology, Ecological Appraisal of April 2022, must be followed. These measures include: 
• MM1 - protection of retained trees and hedgerows, 
• MM2 - further pre-demolition bat surveying of the buildings must be undertaken 

in accordance with BCT survey guidance, if bats are subsequently found, an EPS 
licence must be sought from Natural England. 

• MM3 - careful removal of roofs under a watching brief, this must be proceeded 
by a toolbox talk by the retained ecologists. 

• MM4 - Sensitive lighting must be designed following the guidance given and 
details of the lighting, showing how it relates to ecological features must be 
submitted to and approved in writing prior to occupation. 

• MM5 - Safeguards must be employed to avoid impacts on badgers during 
construction. 

• MM6 - An updated badger survey must be undertaken, to identify whether 
further safeguards are required. 

• MM7 - Safeguards must be employed to avoid impacts on hedgehogs during 
construction. 

• MM8 - Timing of works or other mitigation measures must be put in place to 
avoid impacting upon nesting birds. 

• MM9 - Precautions must be implemented with regards to invasive species. 
Reason: To ensure that protected and priority species are not negatively impacted 
upon and to avoid the spread of invasive plants. 
 

17 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping as 
shown on the Landscape Masterplan drawing no. 881-01 RevC, shall be carried out in 
the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the 
completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. Any trees, plants or areas of 
turfing or seeding which, within a period of 3 years from the completion of the 
development, die are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the 
Local Planning Authority first gives written consent to any variation.  
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
landscaping. 
 

Page 22



18 The use of the retail premises shall be restricted to the hours of 07:00hrs to 23:00hrs 
on any day. 
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of adjoining properties. 
 

19 Deliveries to the retail unit hereby permitted and the associated activity of loading and 
unloading shall be restricted to the hours of 07:00hrs to 19:00hrs Mondays to 
Saturdays and 08:00hrs to 19:00hrs on Sundays and Bank and Statutory Holidays 
Reason: In the interest of the amenities of adjoining properties. 
 

20 The windows to the retail sales area shall be glazed in clear glass and at no time shall 
more than 25% of the total glazed surface area be obscured by the application of 
opaque panels or film. 
Reason: In the interest of the character of the area and to maximise opportunities for 
casual surveillance to reduce the risk and fear of crime. 
 

21 The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be 
laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that 
area shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise 
danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway. 
 

22 No other part of the development shall be occupied until the existing means of access 
has been altered in accordance with the approved drawing and constructed in 
accordance with Buckinghamshire Council's guide note "Commercial Vehicular Access 
Within Highway Limits" 2013. 
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and of the development. 
 

23 Prior to the commencement of any works on the site, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including vehicle 
types, frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, use of a banksman, on-site 
loading/unloading arrangements and parking of site operatives vehicles) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Highway Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with such approved management plan. 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition as development cannot be allowed to 
take place, which in the opinion of the Highway Authority, could cause danger, 
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway and of the development. 
 

24 The approved cycle and bin storage facilities illustrated on drawing 19/415/01  shall be 
provided prior to occupation and thereafter the facilities shall be permanently 
retained, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
These facilities shall thereafter be so retained. 
Reason: To ensure the continued provision of cycle parking and waste storage and in 
the interests of the amenities of the occupiers and adjacent residents. 
 

25 Details of any external plant to be installed in connection with the development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its 

Page 23



installation.  The plant shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before 
the development is occupied and retained as such.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of residential accommodation in the 
vicinity. 
 

26 Other than the low level bollard lighting shown on the approved Landscape Masterplan 
no floodlighting or other form of external lighting shall be installed unless it is in 
accordance with details which have previously been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include location, height, type 
and direction of light sources and intensity of illumination and hours of illumination. 
Any lighting which is so installed shall not thereafter be altered without the prior 
consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority other than for routine maintenance 
which does not change its details and shall not be illuminated outside the agreed 
hours.  
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and ecology and the Chilterns AONB. 

 
27 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order), or the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987, as amended by the Town and Country Planning (use Classes) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order)  the ground floor unit shall be used for purposes falling within Class E (a) (for 
the display or retail sale of goods other than hot food, principally to visiting members 
of the public) and for no other purpose without the prior, express planning permission 
of the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider the effect of 
any future proposals on the character and amenity of the locality. 

 
Informative(s)  

 
1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF Buckinghamshire Council approach decision-

taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure developments.  
Buckinghamshire Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive 
manner by offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating 
applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  In this 
instance the applicant was provided with pre-application advice.  The agent was updated of 
issues during the course of the application and afforded the opportunity to submit 
information to address issues.  The application was considered by the Planning Committee 
where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 
application. The application was determined in accordance with the timescale agreed with 
the applicant.  

 
2 The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control of 

Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition 
sites.  Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made 
to the Environmental Health Section of the Environment Service on 01494 421737at the 
Council Offices. 

 

Page 24



 3 It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development 
site to carry mud onto the public highway.  Facilities should therefore be provided and used 
on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the site. 

 
 4 No vehicles associated with the building operations on the development site shall be parked 

on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction.  Any such wilful obstruction is an offence 
under S137 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
 5 It is contrary to Section 163 the Highways Act 1980 for surface water from private 

development to drain onto the highway or discharge into the highway drainage system.  The 
development shall therefore be so designed and constructed that surface water from the 
development shall not be permitted to drain onto the highway or into the highway drainage 
system. 

 
6 The applicant is advised that the off site works will need to be constructed under a Section 

184 of the Highways Act legal agreement. This Small Works Agreement must be obtained 
from the Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, 
verge or other land forming part of the highway. A minimum period of 3 weeks is required 
to process the agreement following the receipt by the Highway Authority of a written 
request. Please contact Transport for Buckinghamshire at the following address for 
information: 

 
Highway Development Management (Delivery) 
Buckinghamshire Council 
6th Floor, Walton Street Offices 
Walton Street, 
Aylesbury 
Buckinghamshire            
HP20 1UY 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 25



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 
Councillor Comments 

Cllr Broadbent: Further to previous comments made I would like to confirm my request for this 
application to be considered by the planning committee. 

The nature of the development represents a significant change of use to the site with associated 
impacts upon neighbours and the community at large. Significant local concern is expressed about 
a loss of privacy, the inclusion of a mixed development and the wider operational impacts of the 
proposed use. 

Cllr Carroll: Can I please request the above application go to the Planning committee over major 
community concerns on various changes on this position. Which could have a detrimental change 
of the local area. 

Parish/Town Council Comments 

Hughenden Parish Council 

HPC offer no objections but request that egress is carefully considered for safety on this main road. 

Consultation Responses  

Highway Officer 

Main Road is a C-classified road subject to a speed restriction of 30mph, parking and waiting 
restrictions are not present within the vicinity of the site. The road benefits from pedestrian 
footways. 

This application proposes demolition of the existing commercial buildings and replaced with a 
mixed-use development consisting of retail to ground floor, and 4(no) flats to first floor. 

Having assessed the proposed development using the Buckinghamshire Countywide Parking 
Guidance (BCPG) policy document, each flat would require 1(no) parking space whilst the retail area 
would require 19(no) parking spaces. Therefore, the total number of parking spaces required 
amounts to 23(no) spaces. 

Two parking areas are proposed in order to increase the number of parking spaces accommodated 
within the development site. Each parking area has its own access onto Main Road which are 
proposed to be moved slightly, this can be secured by way of condition. The most northern parking 
area is shown to accommodate 8(no) parking spaces, whilst the southern parking area is shown to 
accommodate 16(no) parking spaces. Therefore, I am satisfied the level of parking is sufficient to 
accommodate the number of parking spaces required when considering the development 
proposed.  

In accordance with the BCPG policy document, parking space dimensions should measure 2.8m x 
5m, after assessing the proposed plans I can confirm that these spaces are of adequate dimensions 
and would allow for vehicles to park, turn and leave the site in a forward gear. 

Having assessed the proposal against the site’s existing lawful use, the development will lead to an 
intensification in use of the site. Therefore, the access points serving the development will need to 
be assessed in order to determine its suitability to accommodate the additional vehicular 
movements. In accordance with guidance contained within Manual for Streets, visibility splays of 
2.4m x 43m are required in both directions commensurate with a speed limit of 30mph. Having 
reviewed the submitted plans, I am satisfied that sufficient visibility splays can be achieved for both 

Page 26



access points within the publicly maintained highway or land owned by the applicant. Furthermore, 
both accesses will benefit from a width which is sufficient to accommodate safe simultaneous two-
way vehicular movements. 

The application proposes a recycling area at the rear of the northern parking area. After assessing 
the tracking information provided for an 18-tonne ridged box lorry, I am satisfied that large delivery 
vehicles and a refuse vehicle would be able to complete a turning manoeuvre within the site, 
ensuring the vehicles can enter, turn and exit the site in a forward gear.  

Proposals for residential development generally need to be well connected to non-car modes of 
travel in order to meet the overarching sustainable development principles set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Main Road benefits from a frequent bus service and there is a bus stop 
within close proximity to the site. Therefore, the site has accessibility to public transport so would 
not be fully reliant on the use of the private car. 

Mindful of the above, I do not have any objections to the proposed application subject to the 
following conditions: 

Condition 1: The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be 
laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that area shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose. 
Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise danger, 
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway. 

Condition 2: To other part of the development shall be occupied until the existing means of access 
has been altered in accordance with the approved drawing and constructed in accordance with 
Buckinghamshire Council’s guide note “Commercial Vehicular Access Within Highway Limits” 2013. 
Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway and of 
the development. 

Condition 3: Prior to the commencement of any works on the site, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including vehicle types, 
frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, use of a banksman, on-site loading/unloading 
arrangements and parking of site operatives vehicles) shall be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. Thereafter, the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with such approved management plan. 
Reason:  This is a pre-commencement condition as development cannot be allowed to take place, 
which in the opinion of the Highway Authority, could cause danger, obstruction and inconvenience 
to users of the highway and of the development. 

Informative Points: 

• The applicant is advised that the off-site works will need to be constructed under a Section 
184 of the Highways Act legal agreement. This Small Works Agreement must be obtained from 
the Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, verge 
or other land forming part of the highway. A minimum period of 3 weeks is required to process 
the agreement following the receipt by the Highway Authority of a written request. Please 
contact Highways Development Management at the following address for information:  

Highway Development Management (Delivery) 
Buckinghamshire Council 
6th Floor, Walton Street Offices 
Walton Street, 
Aylesbury 

Page 27



Buckinghamshire            
HP20 1UY 

• It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development site 
to carry mud onto the public highway.  Facilities should therefore be provided and used on 
the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the site. 

• No vehicles associated with the building operations on the development site shall be parked 
on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction.  Any such wilful obstruction is an offence 
under S137 of the Highways Act 1980. 

• It is contrary to section 163 of the Highways Act 1980 for surface water from private 
development to drain onto the highway or discharge into the highway drainage system. The 
development shall therefore be so designed and constructed that surface water from the 
development shall not be permitted to drain onto the highway or into the highway drainage 
system. 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

Initial Comments: 

The LLFA objects to the proposed development due to insufficient information regarding the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme. 

The following information is required in support of the application at this stage of the planning 
process. This list should be read in conjunction with the context of the LLFAs letter where full 
explanations to the following points are provided: 

• Pre-planning enquiry from Thames Water 

• Clarification on how the discharge rate of 2.0l/s was derived 

• Clarification on how green roofs will connect to the wider surface water drainage network 

• Clarification on how surface water from the permeable paving and slot drains will be conveyed 
to the hydrobrake 

Second Comments 

The LLFA objects to the proposed development due to insufficient information regarding the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme. 

The following information is required in support of the application at this stage of the planning 
process. This list should be read in conjunction with the context of the LLFAs letter where full 
explanations to the following points are provided: 

• Pre-planning enquiry from Thames Water to demonstrate there is capacity within the foul 
network to accommodate surface water flows from the proposed development 

• Clarification on how the discharge rate of 2.0l/s was derived 

• Provide a cross-section of the permeable paving, slot drains and the pipe network which conveys 
the runoff to the outfall location 

Third Comments: 

The LLFA objects to the proposed development due to insufficient information regarding the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme. 

Final Comments: 

Page 28



The LLFA has no objection to the proposed development subject to the following planning condition 
listed below being placed on any planning approval. 

Surface water drainage 

Permission from Thames Water, in the form of a pre-planning enquiry letter has been provided 
which demonstrates there is sufficient capacity within the receiving Thames Water network to 
accommodate surface water runoff generated by the proposed development. 

Discharge Rate 

Following a meeting with a consultant, it was stated that the 100% of the rainfall that falls on the 
impermeable area makes up 100% of the existing brownfield runoff. At the detailed design stage, 
the brownfield runoff rate will need to be provided. 

Proposed layout 

The Typical Drainage Details (drawing no. 13506-03) has been updated to show that surface water 
collected by the slot drains will discharge straight into the permeable paving subbase. 

Condition 1 

No works (other than demolition) shall begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable drainage principles has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

• Water quality assessment demonstrating that the total pollution mitigation index equals or 
exceeds the pollution hazard index; priority should be given to above ground SuDS components 

• Brownfield runoff calculations 

• Discharge from site limited to 2.0l/s 

• Drainage layout detailing the connectivity between the dwelling(s) and the drainage 
component(s), showing pipe numbers, gradients, and sizes, complete together with storage 
volumes of all SuDS component(s) 

• Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain up to the 1 in 30 
storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100 plus 
climate change storm event should be safely contained on site. 

• Construction details of all SuDS and drainage components 

• Details of how and when the full drainage system will be maintained, this should also include 
details of who will be responsible for the maintenance 

• Details of proposed overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance or failure, with 
demonstration of flow direction 

Reason: The reason for this condition is to ensure that a sustainable drainage strategy has been 
agreed prior to construction in accordance with Paragraph 167 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework to ensure that there is a satisfactory solution to managing flood risk. 

Ecology Officer 

Initial Comments: The Ecological Appraisal includes details of the habitats found on site and some 
details about the assessment of the buildings for bat roost potential and then some information 
about the follow up surveying for bats. However, the level of information submitted is very limited. 
No photographs are included in the report to evidence the habitats on the site or the bat roost 

Page 29



potential of the buildings. The bats survey has only very limited information given about how it was 
carried out and there is no plan showing where surveyors were positioned or where the passes were 
seen. This is all the more important because of the proximity of the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC, which 
is known to contain many species of bats. 

Given the timing of the bat surveying at the end of the bat surveying season, it is clear that further 
surveys will be necessary to confirm the presence or likely absence of bats. 

The assessment of the hedge on the edge of the site as 'ornamental' seems strange, given that it is 
composed of native species. 

The submitted Landscape Masterplan show that the planting on the site will be of almost entirely 
non native species and as a result it will provide only minimal value to biodiversity. 

It is clear that this does not link up with the suggested ecological enhancements in the Ecological 
Assessment. 

The roof plan shows that parts of the roof will be covered with sedum. This is a positive step which 
may add to the biodiversity value of the site. 

No biodiversity metric has been submitted and so it is not possible to ascertain whether the 
proposals will result in a measurable biodiversity net gain, as is required by policy DM34. 

The following is required prior to determination: 

A biodiversity metric (using the latest government metric) needs to be produced. This will need to 
relate to a baseline habitat assessment with evidence for the distinctiveness and condition of the 
habitats and cross referencing between the plan and the metric. 

The proposals will need to be entered into the metric and it is likely that the Landscape Masterplan 
will need to be amended so that a measurable biodiversity net gain can be achieved in line with 
policy DM34.The Ecological Appraisal needs to be updated to give appropriate information about 
surveying and to evidence the findings. 

The suggestions in the Ecological Appraisal for ecological enhancements are appreciated, but it is 
difficult to see where suitable locations would be for bat boxes, bird boxes and bee bricks. 
Therefore, it is appropriate for them to be shown on plans. 

Mitigation measures and other details can be conditioned following the satisfactory resolution of 
the above issues. 

Second Comments: I am now satisfied with regards to the survey information The Ecological 
Appraisal now includes images of a biodiversity metric. This shows that there would be a 0.02 unit 
(26.46%) net gain. However, the images show that Trading rules have not been satisfied. And an 
apparent discrepancy with areas of proposed habitats means that the supposed net gain will not be 
achieved. Without a copy of the excel spreadsheet it is not possible to properly assess its findings.  

The Green Roof and Faunal Habitat Provision plan within the Ecological Appraisal Does not match 
the Landscape Masterplan. On the higher large flat roof area, it shows a layout of areas of green 
roof, paving and solar panels which does not appear to make sense to me and will make it more 
complicated and expensive to build and result in less benefits for SuDS, insulation and importantly 
from an ecological perspective. It would make much more sense to have the whole of this area as 
green roof with the solar panels positioned on frames on top of it.  

It appears from the images of metric that this area has been shown as 0.023 ha, or 230 m3. This is 
likely the area of the whole of this upper area of roof, but it may also include the inaccessible area 
to the northern corner. This area measurement is clearly incorrect as it appears to include all of the 

Page 30



paved area which has no biodiversity value. There may be potential to increase the distinctiveness 
to moderate by it being an urban brown roof or an intensive green roof, and with appropriate 
management a better condition may be achievable. The area of green roof areas and paved areas 
on the lower flat roof appears to be fully accessible to be walked on by the residents. This area will 
only be of poor distinctiveness, the area is appears to have been assigned (0.002 ha (20m2) needs 
to be clarified. The Ecological appraisal refers to an ornamental hedgerow on south west boundary 
but it is not mentioned on metric and is not shown on plans, is this off site?  

The plant area for the retail unit has several ecological enhancement features situated around it. 
Depending on exactly what the plant is, it may be inappropriate siting for the ecological 
enhancement features. It is unclear how the proposed bee, bird and bat features will be 
incorporated with the modern cladding design, this needs clarification.  

A copy of the metric as an excel spreadsheet needs to be submitted. The situation with regards to 
green roofs needs to be improved and clarified. The siting of the ecological enhancement features 
needs further clarification with drawings and descriptions. The landscape masterplan needs to be 
updated to reflect changes. 

Final Comments: 

DOCUMENT REFERENCE Biodiversity Metric as a spreadsheet; Roof Plan & Elevations Showing 
Ecology Features; Landscape Masterplan; Aspect Ecology Technical Briefing Note 

COMMENTS 

Through the Roof Plan & Elevations Showing Ecology Features, the Landscape Masterplan and the 
Aspect Ecology Technical Briefing Note, clarification has now been given with regards to the nature 
of the green roofs proposed. The extent of green roof has been expanded to cover the majority of 
the roof area. 

Details of the locations and the sections through the locations for installing ecological enhancement 
has now been given on plans. 

The increase in green roof area has resulted in a biodiversity net gain of 46.78%, this is a good level 
of gain. The metric shows that the trading rules have not been satisfied, this is flagged up as the 
scrub is a medium distinctiveness habitat and its loss should have been compensated for by trading 
up. However, with the level of net gain proposed and the other ecological enhancements, I feel that 
the failure to meet the trading rule is outweighed by the other ecological benefits of the scheme 
which should be sustainable in the long term. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

All of the recommendations of the previous comments have now been addressed and I am confident 
that the proposals will result in a long-term measurable biodiversity net gain in line with policy 
DM34. 

CONDITIONS 

Prior to occupation the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA: 

Photographs showing the installed ecological enhancement features, the green roofs and other 
habitats which contribute to the biodiversity net gain of the site. 

A landscape and ecological feature management plan which includes the green roofs and will ensure 
that the relevant distinctiveness and condition of those habitats is achieved. 

Following the installation of the habitats and ecological features, they must be maintained in good 
ecological condition for the life of the development. 

Page 31



Reason: to ensure that proposed habitats and ecological features are seen to be installed properly 
and thereafter maintained to deliver the biodiversity net gain as required by policy DM34 

The Mitigation measures contained within section 6 of the Aspect Ecology, Ecological Appraisal of 
April2022, must be followed. The recommendations are repeated below with additional 
requirements: 

MM1 - protection of retained trees and hedgerows, 

MM2 - further pre-demolition bat surveying of the buildings must be undertaken in accordance with 
BCT survey guidance, if bats are subsequently found, an EPS licence must be sought from Natural 
England. 

MM3 - careful removal of roofs under a watching brief, this must be proceeded by a toolbox talk by 
the retained ecologists. 

MM4 - Sensitive lighting must be designed following the guidance given and details of the lighting, 
showing how it relates to ecological features must be submitted to and approved in writing prior to 
occupation. 

MM5 - Safeguards must be employed to avoid impacts on badgers during construction. 

MM6 - An updated badger survey must be undertaken, to identify whether further safeguards are 
required. 

MM7 - Safeguards must be employed to avoid impacts on hedgehogs during construction. 

MM8 - Timing of works or other mitigation measures must be put in place to avoid impacting upon 
nesting birds. 

MM9 - Precautions must be implemented with regards to invasive species. 

Reason: to ensure that protected and priority species are not negatively impacted upon and to avoid 
the spread of invasive plants. 

 Strategic Environmental Protection Team 

Comments: 

As per the air quality SPD, four electric vehicle charging points with a minimum rating of 32 amp 
(one per dwelling) must be provided prior to the occupation of the development. 

The intrusive investigation has identified elevated concentrations of PAHs in exceedance of the 
relevant generic assessment criteria (commercial land use) (1% SOM). These are as follows: 
benzo(b)fluoranthene M5 0.10-0.20m bgl 89mg/kg;dibenz(ah)anthracene M2 0.30-1.00m bgl 
3.8mg/kg; dibenz(ah)anthracene M5 0.10-0.20m bgl 9.1mg/kg;benzo(b)fluoranthene M8 0-0.70m 
bgl 140mg/kg;benzo(b)fluoranthene M10 0-0.50m 45mg/kg;benzo(a)pyrene M8 0-0.70m bgl 
150mgkg; dibenz(ah)anthracene M7 0-1.0m bgl 5.9mg/kg; dibenz(ah)anthracene M8 0-0.70m bgl 
19mg/kg; dibenz(ah)anthracene M10 0-0.50m bgl 8.2mg/kg. 

The surrogate marker test has been applied, this shows that genotoxic PAHs are present in the near 
surface made ground soils at one exploratory location (M8). Asbestos has been identified at one 
exploratory location; M4 0.20-0.70m bgl (fibres/clumps of chrysotile, 0.002% w/w). 

Following ground gas monitoring, the site has been classified as Characteristic Situation 2, due to 
elevated concentrations of CO2. Gas protection measures are therefore required. The 
Environmental Consultant has recommended the following: ' excavation and removal of UST from 
site, sampling of sides and base of excavation;' clean topsoil/subsoil to be imported for use in 

Page 32



landscaped areas to protect end users and to provide a growing medium;' installation gas protection 
measures. 

There will be commercial units at ground floor, which are not considered a sensitive end use. 
However, there will be 4 x flats at first floor, which are considered a sensitive end use. However, 
there will be limited soft landscaping at ground floor, which is likely to be managed, future site users 
are unlikely to be exposed to contaminants of concern that may be present in the underlying soils. 
A roof terrace for residents is proposed. A supplementary investigation is required to allow the site 
to be fully characterised. The investigation should include post demolition sampling beneath 
structures, sampling beneath the UST & associated petroleum infrastructure following removal. 
Where soils are imported, it is not acceptable to provide the relevant conveyancing notes and the 
supplier's topsoil certificate of conformity alone, independent sampling and analysis must be carried 
out. 

Recommendation (with conditions if appropriate): 

Objection, unless following conditions imposed 

Condition - Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, four electric vehicle charging points 
with a minimum rating of 32amp must be installed (one per dwelling). Reason ' to comply with the 
air quality SPD and, to reduce the carbon emissions and the impact on the health of Nitrogen Dioxide 
emissions from the development. 

Condition - Contaminated Land 

1. Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning permission (or such 
other date or stage in development as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority), the following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with 
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local 
planning authority: 

i. A supplementary investigation, based on the findings of the Ground Investigation Report 
prepared by Sub Surface (Report ref. SE1474C) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. This 
should include an assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, pests, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining 
land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and 
ancient monuments. 

ii. The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (i) and, based on these, an 
options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken. 

iii. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and identifying any requirements 
for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action. Any changes to these components require the express consent of the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

Page 33



2. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme and prior to 
the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced together with any necessary 
monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to 
exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 
The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented. 

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

The above must be undertaken in accordance with the Environment Agency's 'Land 
contamination risk management (LCRM)' guidance, available online at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm.  

3. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination: In the event that contamination is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

Construction/Demolition Noise 

INFORMATIVE 

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of section 60 of the control of pollution 
Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition sites. Application 
under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made to the environmental 
Services Division of the Council.  

Thames Water 

No objection with regard to waste water or sewage treatment.  Water Supply in this area is the 
responsibility of Affinity Water Company.  Suggest that the LLFA is consulted with regard to surface 
water disposal.   

Representations 

Amenity Societies/Residents Associations 

Walters Ash and Naphill Residents Association 

• Existing commercial sites should be protected from non-business and mixed development.  This 
is to protect local employment opportunities and ensure a strong local economy – reference 
Policy CP5 of the WDLP. 

• No demand for additional retail capacity in Naphill and Walters Ash.  Will impact the trade of 
existing businesses.  The opening of the existing Co-op caused Walters Ash Country Store to close.  
Opening hours of existing stores provide for shift workers. 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


• Overdevelopment of the site. 

• Proposed building is higher than existing, close to residential properties and will have an impact 
on amenity. 

• Highway safety concerns due to existing on-road parking which is likely to get worse following 
the development of the site in Clappins Lane.  Larger delivery vehicles would have to park on the 
main road causing an obstruction. 

• Unsympathetic design and use of material in the Chilterns AONB.  Proposal neither conserves nor 
enhances the AONB.  Metal cladding is out of keeping with the area. 

• Detrimental to the character of the two villages 

Chilterns Conservation Board 

• Site is in the Chilterns AONB.  It is not in the open landscape but sits between SSSI and SAC nature 
conservation habitats at Naphill Common SSSI, the Bradenham Woods. Park Wood and the 
Coppice SSSI and the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC.  Impact on ecological connectivity should 
therefore be considered.  Naphill and Walters Ash form a development edge of 3 – 4 km with the 
allotments being the only significant gap.   Would welcome a preliminary ecological appraisal. 

• Design appears out of place and out of context 

• Potential for light spill from the upper level. 

• Decision maker should consider the Chilterns AONB management plan and protection of dark 
skies, minimising the use of lighting and designs which result in light spill.   

Other Representations 

20 comments have been received objecting to the proposal: 

• No need / justification for a convenience store 
• Existing stores in Naphil and Walters Ash already operate extended hours from 6-7am to 9-

11pm seven days a week 
• Concern over increase in traffic 
• Concern over impact on pedestrians of vehicles entering and leaving the site 
• Concern over noise and fumes from cars and delivery vehicles 
• Potential for displaced parking onto Main Road 
• There are parking problems associated with the existing Co-op store 
• Insufficient parking for the retail unit 
• Not enough parking for the flats 
• Access is close to a junction with limited visibility 
• Proposal doesn’t solve existing congestion issues. 
• Potential overlooking to neighbouring properties, particularly from the balconies and roof 

terrace 
• Concern over impact of unrestricted opening hours on surrounding residents, from noise 

and disturbance and vehicular movements. 
• Existing business operates 8.30 – 5.30 Monday to Friday and 8.30 to 12.30 on Saturdays. 
• Removal of the existing buildings on the rear boundary with Stoney Ash will have an adverse 

impact on its character.   
• Would prefer a 2 metre high wall on the boundary with Stoney Ash to create a more robust 

boundary and maximum noise attenuation 
• Potential impact of lighting from the development if open late at night, particularly as there 

Page 35



is no street lighting in the area 
• Site could be used for affordable housing 
• 100% residential development would be preferred 
• Site is in the AONB 
• Suggest more mature trees should be planted as younger trees take time to establish 
• Proposed screening around roof terrace could be higher and more robust to protect privacy 

and improve noise attenuation 
• Surface water drainage issues with more impermeable area 
• Potential for surface water to run off into adjacent properties 
• Design is inappropriate for this area 
• Permission previously refused for 4 dwellings as over-development, three were 

subsequently approved but not built and that permission has now lapsed. 
• Concern over potential smell from refuse and the possibility it will attract pests 
• Loss of light to properties at the rear as the buildings will be higher than the existing, 

particularly winter sun. 
• Properties behind have very short gardens which will increase the impact of customer / 

vehicle movement on amenity. 
• Potential noise and disturbance from use of roof terrace.   
• Concern over potential noise from roof top plant. 
• Loss of the tyre business 
• Loss of commercial site 
• Potential for anti-social behaviour 
• Overdevelopment 
• Ridge height appears 2.5 metres higher than surrounding dwellings 
• Choice of materials out of keeping with the surroundings – should use materials similar to 

other residential buildings in the area 
• Over development in the AONB due to incremental development for new housing over the 

last 20 years 
• Existing buildings are single storey, replacements are 2 – 3 storeys high and resemble a shed. 
• Right of way from the site into two private gardens at the north west corner should be 

rescinded 
• Welcome the eco-friendly approach but the appearance is too modern and not in keeping 

with the surrounding area 
  

 

  

Page 36



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 
 

Report to West Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: 22/07562/FUL 

Proposal: Erection of six 2-bedroomed affordable dwellings and 
associated works including access 

Site Location: OS Parcel 1332 
Chalkshire Road 
Butlers Cross 
Buckinghamshire 
 

Applicant: Mr Eddie Bacon - Hastoe Housing Association 

Case Officer: Jenny Ion 

Ward(s) affected: Ridgeway East 

Parish-Town Council: Ellesborough Parish Council 

Date valid application received: 25th October 2022 

Statutory determination date: 20th December 2022 

Recommendation  

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 Permission is sought for the erection of six 2-bedroom houses as a rural exceptions 
affordable housing scheme.  The application is made by Hastoe Housing Association.  
In 2021 Hastoe commissioned a Housing Needs Survey, with the support of 
Ellesborough Parish Council.  The survey identified a need for affordable housing to 
meet local needs and the proposed scheme is designed to meet some of that need. 

1.2 The scheme is for three pairs of semi-detached, two storey houses, served by a single 
point of access from the Chalkshire Road, towards its southern end, in Butlers Cross.   

1.3 Cllr Carroll indicated that if officers were minded to approve the application he would 
consider calling the application to planning committee.  However, due to the level of 
public interest in the application, in consultation with the Chairman it was agreed that 
the application should be determined by the Planning Committee.  

1.4 Recommendation – minded to approve – defer for a S106 planning obligation. 

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 The application site is located in Butlers Cross, towards the southern end of 
Chalkshire Road, on its west side, to the north of a ribbon of residential development.  
It has a road frontage of 42.8 metres, bounded by a mixed hawthorn and leylandii 
hedge, and is just under 48 metres in depth.  To the south of the site is a public 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


footpath which forms part of the “Aylesbury Ring” circular route.  The site is currently 
used for grazing horses, being part of the equestrian establishment at Home Close 
Farm, and there is grazing land to the immediate north and west. 

2.2 The proposal would be served by a single point of access to Chalkshire Road, in a 
similar position to a gated access, which would be widened on the south side.  An 
access road would turn in a southerly direction to run parallel to Chalkshire Road, 
retaining a wide landscaped area between the access road and the front boundary.  
The dwellings would be laid out in a single row on the west side of the access, with 
private gardens to their rear backing onto the fields.   

2.3 The application is accompanied by: 

a) Planning Statement 
b) Design and Access Statement 
c) Heritage Impact Assessment  
d) Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and SUDS Report 
e) Soil Investigation Report 
f) Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement 

(AMS) 
g) Ecological Impact Assessment 
h) Housing Needs Survey Report 
i) Biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA) and Biodiversity Metric 
j) Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan 

2.4 During the course of the application amended plans have been received which have 
amended the design of the proposed houses and made changes to the layout.  The 
latter were partly in response to comments from consultees, addressing issues relating 
to the width of the public footpath and surface water drainage.   Additional / updated 
surface water drainage information was also provided.  The biodiversity information 
was also updated. 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 There is no relevant planning history on the site.   
 

4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

Principle and Location of Development 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP1 (Sustainable Development), CP3 
(Settlement Strategy), CP4 (Delivering Homes), DM24 (Affordable Housing), DM25 (Rural 
Exceptions Affordable Housing), DM42 (Managing Development in the Green Belt)  

4.1 The site is located in the Green Belt and Butlers Cross is identified as a Tier 6 settlement 
in the Local Plan.   

4.2 Policy CP3 sets out the settlement strategy for the Local Plan area.  This generally 
directs residential development to larger settlements, however development in small 
villages and hamlets is acceptable for rural exceptions affordable housing schemes 
where the settlement has some local services.   

4.3 Within the Green Belt development is also restricted, and development within it is 
inappropriate.  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out at paragraph 
149 that the construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate in the 
Green Belt, except for a number of exceptions.  The exceptions include “limited 

Page 40



affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites)”. 

4.4 Policy DM42 (Managing Development in the Green Belt) of the Local Plan says that 
development in the Green Belt is inappropriate except for a number of exceptions.  
These include development that the NPPF classes as not inappropriate, subject to a 
number of clarifications.  This includes “limited affordable housing for local community 
needs only in accordance with DM25. 

4.5 Policy DM25 (Rural Exceptions Affordable Housing) requires development for small 
scale, rural, affordable housing to demonstrate that: 

a. There is specific, identified local housing need within the community; 
b. This need cannot be met on a site that would otherwise accord with policy; 
c. The location proposed is the best practicable location within the local area with 

regards to material considerations such as access to schools, jobs and services via 
sustainable transport modes. 

4.6 The NPPF also supports the provision of housing in rural area by way of rural exceptions 
sites, to provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs (paragraphs 78 and 
79).  

4.7 The current application is proposed as a rural exceptions sites.  All six units would be 
affordable housing, provided by a registered Housing Association.   

4.8 The potential for the provision of affordable housing has been under consideration for 
some time, with a Housing Needs Survey having been first carried out in 2017.  That 
survey established general support of the principle of providing affordable housing in 
the parish and identified a need for 9 affordable homes. 

4.9 Recognising that, due to the passage of time, the survey from 2017 would not be 
sufficiently up to date to support a planning application, a new survey was undertaken 
in July 2021.  This was carried out by Community First Oxfordshire (a community 
development charity) who were commissioned by Hastoe, with the support of the 
Parish Council. 

4.10 The survey was sent to 324 households, with a further 9 forms sent on request.  In total 
121 responses were received.  The responses showed continued support for the 
principle of providing housing for those in housing need with a local connection to 
Ellesborough (55% in favour, 23% not in favour, and 22% “maybe”), and also support 
for a small scheme in Ellesborough Parish (51.5% in support, 27.5% against, 21% 
“maybe”). 

4.11 The more detailed second part of the survey, was completed by 21 households who 
expressed a housing need.  One of these was found to be ineligible.  The results of the 
analysis of these responses, as set out in the Housing Needs Survey Report, indicates 
a small need for one bedroom, or 3 or 4 bedroom units, but that the greatest need is 
for two-bedroom units. 

4.12 The proposal therefore meets the first criteria of Policy DM25, in that there is a specific, 
identified local housing need within the community.  

4.13 The second criteria of the policy is that the need cannot be met on a site which would 
otherwise accord with policy.  In this instance the whole of the Ellesborough Parish is 
either in the Green Belt or Countryside Outside of the Green Belt.  There are no 
settlements identifies as being in Tier 4 or above in relation to Policy CP3 (Settlement 

Page 41



Strategy). The main settlements within the parish (Terrick, Butlers Cross, Ellesborough) 
are all Tier 6 (Hamlets).  Much of the parish is also in the Chilterns AONB.  It should be 
noted that this designation does not preclude residential development per se, but 
applications must be appropriately assessed against the relevant AONB policies.   

4.14 The submitted information shows that a number of potential sites were investigated 
prior to the selection of the current application site. Of these, the majority were within 
the Green Belt and Chilterns AONB.  One site was outside the Green Belt and AONB 
but was ruled out on several grounds including tree constraints impacting the capacity 
of the site, ecology / biodiversity issues, poor visibility from the access and a greater 
distance from the station. 

4.15 Also of relevance is that the applicant was not able to secure cooperation from the 
owners of the other sites.  The application site was therefore the only site potentially 
available to the applicant to progress a rural exceptions scheme. 

4.16 Given that there is no location within the parish which would otherwise accord with 
policy for the siting of residential development, the proposal is considered to meet the 
second criteria of the policy. 

4.17 Thirdly, the location of the site must be the best practicable location within the local 
area with regards to considerations such as access to schools, jobs and services via 
sustainable transport modes.   

4.18 There are limited facilities within Ellesborough Parish.  Community facilities include the 
Parish Hall with adjacent play area, a pub and the Guide Centre at Butlers Cross and 
the Parish Church in Ellesborough.  There is a filling station on the A4010, a car sales 
garage at Terrick and a brewery and shop to the east of Terrick at Nash Lee.  The 
nearest railway station is at Little Kimble and there is a bus service along the A4010 
and also a limited service along Chalkshire Road.   

4.19 The selected site would be located within the small settlement of Butlers Cross where 
it would have access to the community facilities within the Parish.  It would have access 
to public transport – the service along Chalkshire Road connects with both Aylesbury 
and Princes Risborough, and the service along the A4010 is approximately 1km walking 
distance.   The site is therefore considered to be well located in relation to an existing 
community, local facilities and public transport options.   

4.20 The proposal is considered to meet the requirements of Policy DM25 and is therefore 
not inappropriate development in the Green Belt, as set out in Policy DM42 and the 
NPPF.  It is therefore acceptable in principle, subject to complying with all other 
relevant policies in the development plan. 

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019), DM22 (Housing Mix), DM24 (Affordable 
Housing), Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (POSPD)  

4.21 The proposed development is for six two-bedroom units.  The housing needs survey 
did identify a need for two-bedroom units, although there was also some need for one-
bedroom units and a three and four bedroom unit.  The Parish Council has indicated it 
would like to see one-bedroom units included in the scheme. 

4.22 The applicant was asked to address this point.  They have responded, and have said 
that, in their experience one-bedroom units in rural locations tend to be less popular 
as people would rather move to a two bedroom house with longer term prospects, 

Page 42



allowing them the opportunity to start a family, rather than moving to a home with 
only short term potential.   

4.23 The proposal is for four of the units to be for affordable rent, with two for shared 
ownership.  This meets the needs set out in the housing survey.  Although more 
potential households had indicated interest in shared ownership further assessment 
as part of the survey suggested that those households may not be able to provide the 
required deposit for a shared ownership property. 

4.24 The affordable housing would need to be secured by way of a S106 agreement.  It is 
envisaged that this would take a similar form to S106 agreements on other rural 
exceptions sites in the area.  The agreement would restrict the development to being 
for affordable housing only and secure its retention as such in perpetuity.  It is also 
envisaged that it would set out the balance of affordable rented and shared ownership 
units.  For shared ownership units “staircasing” (whereby an occupier can increase the 
proportion of the dwelling they own), would be limited to 80%, so the Housing 
Association would retain a minimum 20% share of the property. 

4.25 The agreement would limit the occupation to “eligible persons”, which would be 
defined in the agreement with reference to specified local connections to Ellesborough 
parish.  Provision would be made for the possibility that if “eligible persons” with a 
connection to Ellesborough Parish could not be found this would be widened to 
“eligible persons” from specified adjacent parishes.  As a last resort the properties 
would be made available to eligible persons form within Buckinghamshire. 

Transport matters and parking 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019), CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation) 

4.26 The site is located on Chalkshire Road which is a C-class road with a speed restriction 
of 30mph.  The Highways Officer advises that a development of this nature would be 
expected to generate 24 – 30 movements (two-way) per day and this number of trips 
can be accommodated on the local highway network.   

4.27 It is proposed to widen the existing access which, at approximately 5 metres in width 
would allow two vehicles to pass.  The access will need to be constructed to meet the 
relevant specifications for a commercial access, and this would be secured through the 
licensing regime with the Highway Authority.   

4.28 The proposal would be required to provide a vision splay of 2.4 x 43 metres on either 
side of the centre line of the access. This can be achieved as the required land is either 
part of the application site or is within highway limits (which abut the red edge site 
boundary).  This is likely to require some trimming back of the hedge in the area closest 
to the access point itself.   

4.29 The proposal would provide two parking spaces per dwelling which meets the 
requirements of the Buckinghamshire Countywide Parking Guidance (BCPG).  The 
plans were amended to ensure that all spaces meet the minimum size stipulated in 
that guidance, of 2.8 x 5 metres.  One electric vehicle (EV) charging point would be 
provided for each dwelling.  Each house would also be provided with a shed in the rear 
garden to provide secure, covered, cycle storage, in accordance with the BCPG. 

4.30 There is a public footpath on the south boundary of the site.  This currently has limited 
width, being set between the hedge and close boarded fence at no. 29 Chalkshire 
Road, and the boundary fence to the paddock.  At the request of the Strategic Access 

Page 43



Officer the path has been widened to 2 metres, with a post and rail fence defining the 
northern edge.  This improves the accessibility of the path for walkers and would create 
a better environment for users of the path.   

Raising the quality of place making and design 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019), CP9 (Sense of Place), DM34 (Delivering Green 
Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development), DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality), 
DM30 (The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) 
DSA: DM11 (Green Networks and Infrastructure) 
Residential Design Guide SPD; Chilterns Building Design Guide; Ellesborough Village Design 
Statement 

4.31 The proposed scheme has a simple, linear layout, with dwellings facing towards 
Chalkshire Road, albeit set back behind a parallel private drive within the site itself.  
This allows the retention of the majority of the front boundary hedge, using a single 
point of access rather than individual driveways to each plot.  The development clearly 
defines the separation between the private plots of the houses and the public 
circulation areas.   

4.32 The majority of development fronting Chalkshire Road faces the road.  The dwellings 
to the south generally have deep front gardens, whereas some of the older properties 
on the east side of the road are set much closer to the frontage.  The proposed 
dwellings would be slightly further forward than the houses to the immediate south 
but would still maintain a generous set back from Chalkshire Road, thereby reflecting 
the general character and layout found in the area.   

4.33 Parking is, as far as possible, located close to the dwelling it serves, however it has 
been necessary to amend the parking layout to accommodate the surface water 
drainage strategy on the site.  It is understood that parking would be allocated to 
individual dwellings.   

4.34 The scheme incorporates a landscaped area at the front of the site which will 
contribute positively to the setting of the development, as well as providing ecology 
and biodiversity opportunities. 

4.35 Changes have been made to the design of the houses during the course of the 
application.  These include changing the design of the porches, adding pitched roofs 
over the dormers, inclusion of more brick detailing around windows and on the 
building corners, and the addition of chimneys, all features which are encouraged in 
the Chilterns Building Design. 

4.36 The most significant change has been the off-setting of the front and rear elevations 
within each pair of dwellings.  This has allowed the roof span to be reduced, thereby 
increasing the roof pitch without significantly altering the height of the buildings.  The 
houses incorporate projecting gables to the front and rear.  This has resulted in a 
building form and design which is more characteristic of the local vernacular.   

4.37 The plans includes a street scene elevation to show how the development would relate 
to the immediately adjacent dwelling, no. 29 Chalkshire Road.  The applicant has 
undertaken a topological survey which show the land falls very slightly from south to 
north.  The ridge of the houses on plots 1 and 2 would be slightly below that of no. 29, 
reflecting the topography.  The scale and mass of the proposed buildings is considered 
to be consistent with surrounding development and would assimilate into the street 
scene.   

Page 44



4.38 The plans and supporting documentation indicate the use of bricks and clay tiles for 
the external finishes of the houses.  These are appropriate to the local context and the 
exact details can be secured by way of a condition, along with details of surfacing 
materials for the parking, patio and pathway areas.   

4.39 The scheme includes a landscaping scheme which includes hedge planting on site 
boundaries, and additional tree and shrub planting at the front of the site, including 
the use of wildflower meadow species for the grassed area.  Details of means of 
enclosure have been amended during the course of the application, to show post and 
rail fencing on the side and rear boundaries.  An element of chain link fencing is 
proposed along the hedge bounding the public footpath, set back inside the post and 
rail fence.  This has been included to ensure the security of the boundary for plot 1 
whilst the hedge establishes.  As the hedge grows the fence would become less visible.   

4.40 It would be appropriate to secure the landscaping scheme by way of a condition, along 
with the retention of planting.   

Amenity of existing and future residents 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality), DM40 
(Internal Space Standards) 
Housing Intensification SPD; Residential Design Guide SPD 

4.41 The proposed dwellings have been designed to meet the Internal Space Standards and 
would provide a satisfactory living environment for future occupiers in terms of space, 
light and ventilation. Each house would have a rear garden facing west which would 
provide a level area for sitting out and children’s play.  The proposed layout would also 
not result in undue loss of light or privacy between plots subject to a condition securing 
the proposed obscure glazing for the side facing bathroom and secondary bedroom 
windows. 

4.42 There are no dwellings to the immediate north or west of the site.  There is a row of 
cottages on the east side of the road opposite the southern part of the site.  Given the 
set back of the proposed houses and the road separating them, those properties would 
not be adversely impacted in terms of light or privacy.   

4.43 There is a house to the immediate south of the site (29 Chalkshire Road), separated by 
the public footpath.  The side boundary of that house is screened by a hedge to the 
side of the front garden, then a close boarded fence further to the rear.  The proposed 
house on plot 1 would be set forward of no. 29, but is considered to have an acceptable 
relationship to no. 29 in terms of light and enclosure.  The development is on the north 
side of no. 29 and would therefore have minimal impact on direct sunlight.   

4.44 Subject to obscure glazing of the side facing first floor windows the proposed 
development would not result in undue loss of privacy to no. 29.   

Environmental issues 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), CP12 (Climate Change), DM20 (Matters to be determined in accordance with the 
NPPF), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation) 
Air Quality SPD 

4.45 The site makes provision for the storage of refuse within each plot.  To reduce 
emissions the scheme includes the provision of one electric vehicle charging point per 
dwelling as required by the air quality SPD.   

Page 45



4.46 Street lighting is not proposed as part of the development, which is in keeping with the 
surrounding area and also has benefits in relation to wildlife.   

Flooding and drainage 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM39 (Managing Flood Risk and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) 

4.47 The site is not at risk from river flooding, nor is it identified as being at risk from surface 
or groundwater flooding.  However, all development is required to adequately manage 
surface water to prevent an increased risk of flooding on the site, or elsewhere.  In 
accordance with Policy DM39 the applicant has been required to demonstrate that a 
satisfactory solution to managing surface water drainage. 

4.48 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) were therefore consulted on the application.  
The LLFA was not satisfied that the information submitted initially was sufficient to 
demonstrate that surface water would be satisfactorily managed.  Further information 
was therefore submitted to address this issue.  The scheme proposes a combination of 
measures to provide surface water drainage, including permeable paving in the parking 
areas, the provision of swales in the landscaped area at the front of the site, and the 
use of a borehole soakaway.  The inclusion of the soakaway has resulted in some 
changes to the layout of the access and parking area as the soakaway must be located 
at least 10 metres from buildings and roads.   

4.49 The LLFA is now satisfied that there is a satisfactory solution to the management of 
surface water, such that the development will not increase the risk of flooding on the 
site or elsewhere.  A condition has been recommended to secure the approval of a 
detailed SuDS scheme.   

Landscape Issues/Landscape and visual Impact 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of Place), DM30 (The Chilterns Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty), DM32 (Landscape Character and Settlement Patterns), 
DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure), DM12 (Green space), DM13 (Conservation 
and enhancements of sites, habitats and species of biodiversity and geodiversity importance) 

4.50 The site is located in the Chilterns AONB and great weight must therefore be given to 
the conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the Chilterns AONB.   

4.51 As set out above, Butlers Cross is a largely linear settlement, with development 
fronting the road.  The proposed development would continue and existing built-up 
frontage in a northerly direction, and would thus be regarded as part of the established 
settlement pattern.   

4.52 The development will inevitably result in a degree of change from the existing 
situation, with the introduction of buildings onto an undeveloped field.  It is 
acknowledged that the proposal will also result in the loss of part of the existing gap 
between no. 29 Chalkshire Road and the stables to the north of the site.  There would, 
however, be some gap retained to the north of the site, retaining a visual connection 
to the agricultural land behind from the road.  The retention of the boundary hedge 
would go some way to reducing the visual impact in views from the highway. 

4.53 The site is also bounded on its south side by a public footpath.  As has already been set 
out above, the applicant has amended the scheme to increase the available width of 
the path from its current width to 2 metres, bounded by a post and rail fence with 
hedge behind.  The development would be clearly seen from this path, and the impact 

Page 46



would be greatest on the section of the path closest to the site.  However, the 
proposed planting of hedging around the site will, with time, lessen that impact to a 
degree. 

4.54 The development would be seen from further afield on the public footpath network, 
but at these greater distances it would be viewed in the context of the existing 
settlement.  Given that the development is consistent with the scale and layout of the 
surrounding settlement it would, together with the mitigation provided by the 
developing planting, assimilate into the surrounding area.   

4.55 Policy DM30 requires to development to conserve, and where possible, enhance, the 
natural beauty of the AONB.  Natural beauty of an area includes its flora, fauna, and 
geological and physiographical features.  In this instance the site has been shown to be 
of little interest in terms of flora and fauna, and the development would not adversely 
affect geological and physiographical features, on what is a relatively level site.  As such 
the proposal would conserve the natural beauty of the AONB.  The introduction of 
additional boundary hedging, which are a feature of the Chilterns, has the potential to 
provide some enhancement.   

4.56 Policy DM30 also requires consideration to given to the social and economic wellbeing 
of local communities.  In this respect, the provision of affordable housing to meet 
locally identified need would support this objective.   

4.57 There are only two trees within the site, adjacent to the south boundary.  These have 
been categorised as Categorgy C trees in the tree report submitted.  They are not of 
particularly visual significance in the landscape.  It is proposed that they are removed 
as part of the development.  The scheme includes planting of a number of trees in the 
landscaped area at the front of the site and these would compensate for the loss of 
the two trees. 

4.58 There is also an established boundary hedge along the roadside boundary.  The hedge 
is a mix of conifer and native hawthorn. This is shown to be retained, although a section 
will be removed to facilitate the provision of the access and visibility from it.  The hedge 
is a significant feature in the street scene and its retention is therefore welcomed.  
Although a section would be removed this would not be extensive, and would be more 
than compensated for in ecology terms by the proposed mixed native hedging on the 
rear and side boundaries.   

Ecology 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA:  DM13 (Conservation and enhancement of sites, habitats and species of biodiversity 
and geodiversity importance), DM14 (Biodiversity in development) 

4.59 An ecological impact assessment was submitted with the application.  This identifies 
the site has having limited ecological interest.  The site is grazed and there is limited 
vegetation, other than the boundary hedge and two poor quality trees on the south 
boundary.  The proposal would not, therefore, have an adverse impact on protected 
species or significant habitat on the site.  However precautionary measures should be 
taken at construction stage, such as checking for nesting birds and covering open 
trenches during building work, to prevent harm to wildlife. 

4.60 All development is expected to secure a net gain in biodiversity.  The applicant 
provided a Biodiversity Impact Assessment and Biodiversity Metric during the course 

Page 47



of the application.  This identifies a net gain in hedgerow habitat, but a net loss of 
habitat (modified grassland).  This net loss would be contrary to Policy DM34, however, 
as set out in the Biodiversity Net Gain SPD this could be mitigated.   

4.61 This can be achieved by securing a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (previously referred to as 
a biodiversity offsetting scheme), through a S106 agreement.  The Biodiversity Net 
Gain Plan can include one of several options, including (at the present time) a payment 
to Buckinghamshire Council to provide the requisite biodiversity unit, finding an offset 
site which meets the criteria in the BNG SPD, or finding an offset provider (broker or 
habitat bank) meeting the requirements set out in the SPD.  It is not necessary for the 
site to be identified at this stage if the applicant enters into a S106 agreement 
committing them to securing a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan. 

4.62 The site is also just within the 12.6km Zone of Influence of the Ashridge SSSI part of 
the Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  Natural England were 
therefore consulted on the application, but have raised no objection in terms of the 
impact on the SAC.  Nor did their comments indicate that further assessment was 
required.   

4.63 An appropriate assessment has bene carried out which does identify the potential for 
the development to have an impact on the SAC, by virtue of the proposal being for 
additional dwellings within the Zone of Influence (ZOI).   

4.64 The Council has agreed a Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy 
(SAMMS) with Natural England which is capable of mitigating likely significant effects 
on for sites within the ZOI.  For sites in some areas this requires a contribution towards 
the SAMMS.  For sites within the Wycombe Local Plan Area, no such contributions are 
required, on the basis that this area contributes less than 3% visitors to the SAC.  The 
level of impact is therefore insufficient to require mitigation.  Similarly, the provision 
of Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space is not required.   

4.65 The application includes details of biodiversity enhancement measures which would 
be included in the scheme, such as bird and bat boxes, hedgehog highways and 
hedgehog domes, together with native planting for the hedgerows.  The scheme also 
includes additional tree and shrub planting.  

Historic environment (or Conservation Area or Listed Building Issues) 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of place), CP11 (Historic 
Environment), DM20 (Matters to be determined in accordance with the NPPF), DM31 
(Development Affecting the Historic Environment) 

4.66 With respect to identified heritage assets, there are three listed buildings in the 
immediate vicinity, the closest of which is Dunrobin House, a Grade II listed building.  
This is to the southeast of the site, on the opposite side of the road.  The Council’s 
conservation officer was consulted on the application with regard to the potential 
impact on the setting of the listed building.  She has advised that the proposal would 
not harm the setting of the listed building.  The immediate setting of that property has 
been impacted by the existing 20th century development around it.  The proposed 
development would be set further away and would therefore have negligible impact 
on the heritage asset’s significance.  There are other listed buildings further afield but 
the proposed development would not adversely affect their setting.   

Page 48



 

Building sustainability 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP12 (Climate Change), DM33 (Managing 
Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation), DM41 (Optional Technical Standards 
for Building Regulations Approval) 

4.67 The supporting information indicates that it is intended to construct the dwellings to 
high water efficiency standards.  This could be secured by way of a suitably worded 
condition.  It would also be possible to condition the incorporation of sustainability 
measures such as air source heat pumps or solar panels.   

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
DSA: DM19 (Infrastructure and delivery) 
Developer Contributions SPD 

4.68 The development is a type of development where CIL would be chargeable. 

4.69 It is considered that there would not be other types of infrastructure, other than the 
provision of affordable housing, that will be put under unacceptable pressure by the 
development to justify financial contributions or the direct provision of infrastructure.  

4.70 Having regard to the statutory tests in the Community Infrastructure Levy regulations 
and the National Planning Policy Framework it is considered that the following 
planning obligation(s) are required to be secured within a section 106 agreement: 

• Affordable housing 
• Biodiversity Net Gain Plan 

4.71 The applicant has confirmed that they are willing to enter into a legal agreement. 

5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

5.1 This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to 
weigh and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on 
the application. 

5.2 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 
Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

5.3 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 
the development plan policies.  The development is for a rural exceptions affordable 
housing scheme for which there is a demonstrated local need and is therefore not 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  The design and layout are considered 
acceptable and the proposal would not have an adverse impact on ecology or 
biodiversity, residential amenity or highway safety, and would make adequate 
provision for surface water drainage.   

Page 49



5.4 The proposal will have result in a degree of change within the AONB landscape but 
would not overall harm the natural beauty of the Chilterns AONB.  In any event, the 
economic and social benefits of the provision of affordable housing to meet the needs 
of the local community, are considered to outweigh any harm to the local landscape. 

5.5 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the LPA must have due regard to the need 
to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation, regard has been given 
to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics (age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 
and sexual orientation). The application provides for the erection of six affordable 
houses. In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal would disadvantage any 
sector of society to a harmful extent. The development has been designed to include 
level access, lift access to the first floor and disabled parking to facilitate access for 
customers and residents with mobility issues. 

5.6 The Human Rights Act 1998 Article 1 the protection of property and the peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 the right to respect for private and family life, 
have been taken into account in considering any impact of the development on 
residential amenity and the measures to avoid and mitigate impacts. It is not 
considered that the development would infringe these rights.  

6.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

6.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2021) the Council’s approach decision-
taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments. 

6.2 The Council works with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applicant/agents 
of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  

6.3 In this instance: 

• was provided with pre-application advice, 
• the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit, 
• the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was  
• The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 

scheme/address issues. 
• The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 

applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 
application.  

7.0 Recommendation 

7.1 The recommendation is that the application be delegated and deferred to the Service 
Director of Planning and Environment for APPROVAL subject to the satisfactory 
completion of a legal agreement to secure: 

• Affordable housing  
• A biodiversity net gain plan 

Or if this is not achieved then the application be refused for such reasons as the Service 
Director of Planning and Environment considers appropriate.  

Page 50



It is anticipated that any permission would be subject to the following conditions: 
 

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.  

 Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (As amended). 

 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the details 

contained in the planning application hereby approved and plan numbers L01.A, 
PD.01 Rev S, PD.02 Rev J and 2208-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0300-S2 P03 unless the Local 
Planning Authority otherwise first agrees in writing. 

 Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure a satisfactory development 
of the site. 

  
 3 The materials to be used for the external surfaces, including walls, roofs, doors and 

windows shall be of the same colour, type and texture as those used in the existing 
building, unless the Local Planning Authority otherwise first agrees in writing.  

 Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance. 
 
 4 Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the 

application, a schedule and/or samples of all surfacing materials shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any work to the 
finished surfaces of the development takes place.  The surfacing materials should 
align with the requirements of the surface water drainage strategy.  Thereafter, the 
development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved 
details.   

 Reason: To secure a satisfactory appearance 
 
 5 Details of all screen and boundary walls, fences and any other means of enclosure, 

based on the details shown on drawing 2208-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0300-S2 P03 shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
part of the development is occupied. The development shall thereafter only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and the buildings hereby 
approved shall not be occupied until the details have been fully implemented. The 
screen and boundary walls, fences and any other means of enclosure which are part 
of the approved scheme shall thereafter be retained in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not adversely affect the 
privacy and visual amenities at present enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, and to ensure a satisfactory environment within the development. 

 

Page 51



 6 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping as 
shown on the Landscape Planting and Habitat plan 2208-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0300-S2 
P03, shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
sooner. Any trees, plants or areas of turfing or seeding which, within a period of 3 
years from the completion of the development, die are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority first gives 
written consent to any variation.  

 Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
landscaping. 

 
 7 The new buildings hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with the 

levels information shown on drawing no. PD.02 Rev J unless otherwise first agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed at an acceptable level with 
regards to the surrounding area. 

  
 8 No works (other than the alterations to the site access) shall begin until a surface 

water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context of the development, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

o Assessment of SuDS components as listed in the CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753) 
and provide justification for exclusion if necessary   

o Demonstrate that water quality, ecological and amenity benefits have been 
considered 

o Water quality assessment demonstrating that the total pollution mitigation 
index equals or exceeds the pollution hazard index; priority should be given 
to above ground SuDS components  

o Existing and proposed discharge rates and volumes  
o Ground investigations including:  
o Infiltration rate testing at depth of proposed soakaway 
o Groundwater level monitoring over the winter period 
o Subject to infiltration being inviable, the applicant shall demonstrate that an 

alternative means of surface water disposal is practicable subject to the 
drainage hierarchy as outlined in paragraph 056 of the Planning Practice 
Guidance. 

o SuDS components agreed in the outline application 
o Full construction details of all SuDS and drainage components 
o Detailed drainage layout with pipe numbers, gradients and pipe sizes 

complete, together with storage volumes of all SuDS components 
o Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain 

up to the 1 in 30 storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between 
the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100 plus climate change storm event should be safely 
contained on site. 

Page 52



o Details of proposed overland flood flow routes in the event of system 
exceedance or failure, with demonstration that such flows can be 
appropriately managed on site without increasing flood risk to occupants, or 
to adjacent or downstream sites. 

o Details of how and when the full drainage system will be maintained, this 
should also include details of who will be responsible for the maintenance 

 Reason: The reason for this pre-construction condition is to ensure that a sustainable 
drainage strategy has been agreed prior to construction in accordance with 
Paragraph 167 and 169 of the National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that 
there is a satisfactory solution to managing flood risk. 

 
 9 No other part of the development shall be occupied until the existing means of 

access has been provided in general accordance with the approved planning drawing 
and constructed to the appropriate Buckinghamshire Council access standards. 

 Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and of the development.  

 
10 No other part of the development shall begin until visibility splays have been 

provided on both sides of the access between a point 2.4 metres along the centre 
line of the access measured from the edge of the carriageway and a point 43  metres 
along the edge of the carriageway measured from the intersection of the centre line 
of the access. The area contained within the splays shall be kept free of any 
obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height above the nearside channel level of the 
carriageway. 

 Reason: To provide adequate intervisibility between the access and the existing 
public highway for the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the 
access. 

  
11 No wall, fence, hedge or other means of enclosure to be provided along the site 

frontage shall exceed a height of 0.6 metres above the level of the centre line of the 
access for a distance of 3 metres to the northern side of the access, and for a distance 
of 8 metres to the southern side of the access.  

 Reason: To provide adequate intervisibility between the access and the existing 
public highway for the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the 
access. 

 
12 The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be 

laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that 
area shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose.  

 Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to 
minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway. 

 
13 Prior to the commencement of any works on the site, a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including 
vehicle types, frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, use of a banksman, 
on-site loading/unloading arrangements and parking of site operatives vehicles) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with such approved management plan. 

Page 53



  
 Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition as development cannot be allowed 

to take place, which in the opinion of the Highway Authority, could cause danger, 
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway and of the development. 

 
14 Notwithstanding any other details shown on the plans hereby approved, the 

window(s) and any other glazing to be inserted in the first floor flank elevations of 
the dwellings shall, up to a minimum height of 1.7 metres above finished floor level, 
be fixed shut (without any opening mechanism) and glazed in obscure glass. The 
window(s) shall thereafter be retained as such. 

 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 
15 The dwellings hereby permitted shall be designed and built to meet the standards 

set out in Building Regulations Approved Document M4(2), unless otherwise first 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To meet the need for accessible, adaptable dwellings as required by Policy 
DM41 of the adopted Wycombe District Local Plan (2019). 

 
16 The dwelling(s) hereby approved shall be constructed to meet as a minimum the 

higher standard of 110 litres per person per day using the fittings approach as set 
out in the 'Housing: optional technical standards' guidance and prescribed by 
Regulation 36(2)(b) of the Building Regulations 2010.   

 Reason: The site is in an area of serious water stress requiring water efficiency 
opportunities to be maximised; to mitigate the impacts of climate change; in the 
interests of sustainability; and to use natural resources prudently, and in accordance 
with Policy DM41 of the Wycombe District Local Plan (adopted August 2019) and 
guidance contained in the NPPF (2021). 

 
17 Prior to the development being brought into use the electric vehicle charging points, 

with a minimum rating of 32 amp, shall be installed in the parking area serving the 
development in the locations shown on drawing PD 01S.  The charging points shall 
thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development, in working order.  

 Reason: To assist in the reduction of air pollution from vehicular traffic by facilitating 
the use of electric vehicles to reduce the negative impact on the health of residents 
living within the Air Quality Management Area and to meet the requirements of 
Policies CP12 (Climate Change) and DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport 
and Energy Generation) in the adopted Wycombe District Local Plan (2019). 

 
18 No development shall be occupied unless and until the Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following. 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c) Aims and objectives of management.  
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 
e) Prescriptions for management actions. 
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 

rolled forward over a five-year period). 
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 

Page 54



h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  
 The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which 

the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where 
the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP 
are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, 
agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: To ensure appropriate protection and enhancement of biodiversity, to make 
appropriate provision for natural habitat within the approved development and to 
provide a reliable process for implementation and aftercare. 

 
19 No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 

clearance) until a method statement for the installation of 6 bat boxes, 6 bird boxes, 
hedgehog highways and hedgehog dome has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The content of the method statement shall 
include the:  

a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works; 
b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated 

objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be used);  
c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps and 

plans; 
d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the 

proposed phasing of construction; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the works; 
f) initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant); 
g) disposal of any wastes arising from works. 

 The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter.  

 Reason: To provide enhancements for wildlife species in keeping with local policy 
DM34. 

 
20 Prior to occupation, a "lighting design strategy for biodiversity" for the site shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy 
shall: 

a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and 
that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting 
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for 
example, for foraging; and 

b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision 
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can 
be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the 
above species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and 
resting places.  

 All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the strategy.  

 Reason:  

Page 55



 Many species active at night are sensitive to light pollution. The introduction of 
artificial light might mean such species are disturbed and/or discouraged from using 
their breeding and resting places, established movement corridors or foraging areas. 
Such disturbance can constitute an offence under relevant wildlife legislation. 
Limiting negative impacts of light pollution is also in line with paragraph 185 of the 
NPPF. 

 
21 No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 

clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following. 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of 
method statements). 

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features. 

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on 
site to oversee works.  

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

 The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: To ensure that development is undertaken in a manner which ensures 
important wildlife is not adversely impacted. 

 
22 The development shall take place in accordance with the arboricultural method 

statement (AMS) and tree protection plan submitted as part of the planning 
application, and any permitted works Construction Exclusion Zone and other works 
which are specified in the AMS will take place under the supervision of a retained 
arboricultural specialist. A single page report and photographic record showing the 
supervised works will be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within 7 days of 
each supervised event which will result in a certificate being issued by the planning 
authority upon completion  

 Reason: To ensure that the retained trees, shrubs and hedgerows are not damaged 
during the construction process and in the long term interests of local amenity value. 

  
23 The approved cycle and bin storage facilities illustrated on drawings PD 01 Rev S and 

PD0 02 Rev J shall be provided prior to occupation and thereafter the facilities shall 
be permanently retained, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These facilities shall thereafter be so retained. 

 Reason: To ensure the continued provision of cycle parking and waste storage and 
in the interests of the amenities of the occupiers and adjacent residents. 

 

Page 56



24 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order), no development falling within Classes A and E of Part 1 
of Schedule 2 shall be carried out without the prior, express planning permission of 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider the effect 
of any future proposals on the character and amenity of the locality, the Chilterns 
AONB and the Green Belt. 

 
 

INFORMATIVE(S) 
 

 1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF Buckinghamshire Council approach decision-
taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure developments.  
Buckinghamshire Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive 
manner by offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating 
applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application. 
  
In this instance:  

• was provided with pre-application advice, 
• the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit, 
• the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was  
• The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 

scheme/address issues. 
• The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent 

had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the application.  
 

 2 The applicant is advised that the off-site works will need to be constructed under a Section 
184/278 of the Highways Act legal agreement. This Agreement must be obtained from the 
Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, verge or 
other land forming part of the highway. Please visit the Council's website for further 
guidance or contact Highways Development Management at the following address for 
information: 

 Highway Development Management (Delivery) 
 Buckinghamshire Council 
 6th Floor, Walton Street Offices 
 Walton Street, 
 Aylesbury 
 Buckinghamshire 
 HP20 1UY 
 highwaysdm@buckinghamshire.gov.uk  
 

 3 It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development 
site to carry mud onto the public highway.  Facilities should therefore be provided and used 
on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the site. 
 

Page 57

mailto:highwaysdm@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


 4 No vehicles associated with the building operations on the development site shall be parked 
on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction.  Any such wilful obstruction is an offence 
under S137 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
 5 The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended 

(section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that 
nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence 
against prosecution under this act. Trees, scrub and other vegetation are likely to contain 
nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. Trees and other vegetation are 
present on the application site and are to be assumed to contain nesting birds between the 
above dates, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess 
the nesting bird activity on site during this period and has shown it is absolutely certain that 
nesting birds are not present. 

 
 6 The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control of 

Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition 
sites.  Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made 
to the Environmental Health Section of the Environment Service on 01494 421737at the 
Council Offices. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 58



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 
 

Councillor Comments 

Cllr Carroll - I have had many residents contact about the concerns of the about application can you 
please keep Steve Broadbent and myself in the loop and if minded to approve it would be good to 
take it to the planning committee so various residents can have their say. 

Cllr Carroll - I did send you the concerns of many residents on various issues about the above 
application a few weeks ago.  I believe the consultation was extended?  Can you please keep me 
and Steve Broadbent in the loop and if minded to approve will consider calling this to the planning 
committee to give the opportunity for residents to express those concerns on this Application. 

Parish/Town Council Comments 

Ellesborough Parish Council (2.12.22) 

Ellesborough Parish Council (EPC) has given full consideration of the material presented as part of 
this planning application. Following an Extraordinary General Meeting on 14th November 2022, 
which was attended by a representative from Hastoe Housing Association, and a subsequent Parish 
Council meeting on Monday 21st November, and having reviewed all of the public and consultee 
comments on the planning portal at this time, EPC would like to make the following comments. 

EPC do not consider it appropriate to debate the nuances of the Bucks Local Planning Policy, nor 
question the veracity of the 2 x Housing Needs Surveys (NS) which have been recently conducted, 
and fully anticipate Bucks Council to undertake this process. 

EPC approached Hastoe Housing Association as a delivery partner in the first instance when 
exploring the potential for this development. They have evidenced their support of rural 
communities and capabilities at delivering projects such as this in Buckinghamshire. Their housing 
design awards and housing excellence award offered some assurance that they are a capable 
partner for this proposal. 

EPC have unanimously voted to continue to support the proposed development at this stage. 

As the prospect of having a small-scale Affordable Housing (AH) scheme became more publicised, 
each survey has demonstrably shown increased support in both principle and need. The first NS was 
undertaken in 2017, and although responses were limited, there was a clear identification of both 
need and support. Due to changes in policy and the unification of Bucks Council, a second NS was 
undertaken in 2021. There was a far higher response rate, and the results continued to demonstrate 
again both need and public support. 

On balance, EPC consider a small AH scheme, designed correctly, would enhance the local 
community and support diversity and sustainability in Butlers Cross. This is an opportunity to 
improve our village and community, in a small way, which EPC are unanimous in supporting, subject 
to some conditions.  

Chalkshire Road is entirely AONB and the nucleus of the village ribbon development. The subject 
site would effectively be an extension to the existing developed housing environment and on 
balance the EPC consider as an appropriate site for the siting of a small AH scheme. It is accepted 
that this site is part of an AONB, however Chalkshire Road is entirely an AONB, as is a large part of 
the parish.  

Page 59



EPC fully acknowledge that there are numerous residents along Chalkshire Road which are strongly 
against this development, but the most recent AH survey demonstrated that as a Parish the majority 
of Parishioners are in support, of a small-scale scheme.   

Within 2 miles of the site exists a brewery and shop, a golf course and clubhouse, a farm shop, 
multiple farms, a petrol station with convenience shop and a village pub. The site is within walking 
distance of the local church, village hall, play park and on the local bus route which travels along 
Chalkshire Road. 

The current plans show detailed landscaping proposals, which are welcomed by EPC. However, 
there are concerns regarding some aspects of these plans. 

The rear elevation shows proposed chain-link fencing which is entirely out of keeping with the area. 
This should be agricultural stock proof fencing. EPC strongly oppose usage of high, close board 
fencing, particularly on the Southern elevation adjacent to the footpath, specifically to avoid the 
creation of an urban alleyway. 

There is a concern over the visibility splays, and whether the hedge will need to be reduced in height 
to the front of the scheme. It has always been EPC understanding that the existing established 
hedges (front) would remain in situ and removing or reducing the height of these hedges should be 
strongly challenged. Visibility can and should be achievable through regular maintenance to the 
sides of this hedge, negating the requirement to reduce its height. This hedge also acts as a natural 
acoustic barrier from the busy road to the proposed properties 

The plans show little detail in regard to construction materials. These should be, particularly on front 
elevations, sympathetic to the Ellesborough Village Design Statement and the Chiltern Design 
Statement. We would expect this to be a detailed matter for agreement in due course.  

Building height lines must not exceed that of the property next door at number 29. 

The NS shows a demand for a range of properties. Whilst it demonstrates a need for multiple 2 bed 
homes, there is an evidenced need for 1 bed units also. Why are there no 1 bed units in the 
proposal? EPC would like it considered that the mix of properties could be 4 or 5 x 2 bed homes, 
and 2 x 1 bed. 

The footpath adjacent to the site is a well-used footpath, and forms part of the Aylesbury Ring. EPC 
feel this is an opportunity to improve this footpath and would like to see it resurfaced as part of the 
development and propose that it is widened to a minimum width of 2.4m following any 
construction. This will create an openness which will improve the amenity of the footpath. It will 
also require maintenance similar to the hedge fronting Chalkshire Road. 

EPC would need to be the joint authors and co-party to an acceptable S106 Agreement which would 
control the selection of occupants in accordance with EPC local housing needs and protect these 
properties in perpetuity. 

EPC would expect a detailed and appropriate Construction Traffic Management plan to be agreed 
prior to undertaking any works. The site is opposite a development of existing cottages. Access and 
egress to these properties will be very difficult if construction vehicles are allowed to park in front 
of the subject site at any time. This should include fire safety measures, emergency vehicle access 
and security of the site. 

Finally, there is no reference to a lighting plan. EPC assumes there will be a requirement for some 
form of lighting on the access road and community area. There is a strong view that any form of 
lighting should be minimal and proportionate. This site must not be a source of light pollution. As 
with the materials for construction, we expect this to be a detailed matter for agreement in due 
course. 

Page 60



These comments have been unanimously agreed by the members of Ellesborough Parish Council 
and form the key basis upon which the EPC continue to support this application on this rural 
exception site on AONB. 

Ellesborough Parish Council comments 16.3.23 

Ellesborough Parish Council (EPC) has given full consideration of the material presented as part of 
this planning application. The revised plans have been circulated among members of the Parish 
Council, and these comments are unanimously agreed by these members. Whilst previous 
comments made by EPC encompassed wider aspects of the planning application, the below 
comments are solely in response to some of the changes made by the applicant, or lack thereof.  

EPC have unanimously voted to continue to support the proposed development at this stage. 

To the rear of the properties, what was originally described as chain link fence has been altered to 
stock proof fence, which is more agricultural and in keeping with the area. However, beside the 
footpath it is maintained as chain link fence. This should be agricultural stock proof fencing too. As 
a minimum, the height of this fence needs to be kept below 5’. 

The strategic Access Officer report is welcome, and certainly reinforces the original stance that the 
footpath width needs to be considered, and certainly defined as no less than 3 m to the centre of 
the hedge. 

The plans show the hedge to the front of the properties will be retained, however there is still no 
reference to the height. There is a concern over the visibility splays, and whether the hedge will 
need to be reduced in height to the front of the scheme. It has always been EPC understanding that 
the existing established hedges (front) would remain in situ and removing or reducing the height of 
these hedges should be strongly challenged. Visibility can and should be achievable through regular 
maintenance to the sides of this hedge, negating the requirement to reduce its height. This hedge 
also acts as a natural acoustic barrier from the busy road to the proposed properties 

The plans show little detail in regard to construction materials. These should be, particularly on front 
elevations, sympathetic to the Ellesborough Village Design Statement and the Chiltern Design 
Statement. This could easily be achieved by using, for example, flint on the front elevations. Whilst 
the use of clay tiles, clay facing brick and aluminium windows is referenced, it is minor in its detail. 
Fundamentally EPC would expect the materials to be a detailed condition though.  

It is also noted that chimney stacks have been introduced to the design. This seems an unnecessary 
addition which will add financial and environmental cost. The superfluous use of building materials 
is unjustified and uneconomical. 

Building height lines have been shown not to exceed that of the neighbouring property. This is 
welcomed and it is crucial that this is adhered to. 

No alteration has been made to the mix of properties. The NS shows a demand for a range of 
properties. Whilst it demonstrates a need for multiple 2 bed homes under shared ownership, there 
is an evidenced need for 1 bed rental units also. Why are there no 1 bed units in the proposal? EPC 
would like it considered that the mix of properties could be 4 or 5 x 2 bed homes, and 2 x 1 bed. 

There is still no reference to a lighting plan. EPC assumes there will be a requirement for some form 
of lighting on the access road and community area. There is a strong view that any form of lighting 
should be minimal and proportionate. This site must not be a source of light pollution. Indeed, the 
ecological impact assessment references lighting in their recommendation: - 

5.4.5 Any new lighting proposed will be sensitively designed, adopting the following principles:  

Page 61



• Maintaining dark corridors along the site boundaries, particularly along the eastern 
boundary adjacent to the retained hedgerow; and  

• Not illuminating any newly created roosting features (i.e. bat boxes).  

5.4.6 Where lighting is required, ensuring:  

• Light levels are less than 3 Lux;  
• LED luminaires with a warm white spectrum ideally <2700Kelvin (to avoid blue / UV 

elements);  
• Bollard or low-level downward directional luminaires are used and mounted on the 

horizontal (with no upward tilt); and  
• Security lighting, if required, is motion-activated with short (1 minute) timers. 

EPC would like these recommendations to be a requirement of this proposed development. EPC has 
received critical comments in the past regarding sources of light pollution within the village, with 
the property next door (No. 29) being a major source, hence the desire to seek assurances that no 
light pollution will be generated from the completed site. As with the materials for construction, we 
expect this to be a detailed matter for agreement in due course.  

Finally, the bio-diversity and ecology reports expect that the developer cannot provide on-site 
solutions to the negative impacts of a new development and do make reference to “offset” 
payments. EPC would expect that any payments made should be for the exclusive benefit of bio-
diversity and ecological improvements within Ellesborough Parish. There is an ongoing project 
within the parish, in collaboration with BBOWT, towards which these funds would be well received. 

As stated previously, EPC would need to be the joint authors and co-party to an acceptable S106 
Agreement which would control the selection of occupants in accordance with EPC local housing 
needs, and protect these properties in perpetuity. 

EPC would expect a detailed and appropriate Construction Traffic Management plan to be agreed 
prior to undertaking any works. The site is opposite a development of existing cottages. Access and 
egress to these properties will be very difficult if construction vehicles are allowed to park in front 
of the subject site at any time. This should include fire safety measures, emergency vehicle access 
and security of the site. 

These comments have been unanimously agreed by the members of Ellesborough Parish Council 
and form the key basis upon which the EPC continue to support this application on this rural 
exception site on AONB. 

Consultation Responses  

Environmental Health 

No objection subject to a condition to secure electric vehicle charging points.  Suggest and 
informative relating to construction noise. 

Lead Local Flood Authority – comments 11.11.22 

Objection due to insufficient information regarding surface water drainage. 

Lead Local Flood Authority – comments 9.3.23 

Buckinghamshire Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has reviewed the information  
provided in the following documents:  

• FRA & SuDS Report (HDC/1062/01, April 2021, HEGSONS) 
• Indicative Exceedance Event Overland Flow Route (drawing no. HDC 1061_115, May 2022, 

HEGSONS) 

Page 62



• Indicative Surface Water Drainage Catchment Plan (drawing no. HDC 1061_110, May 2022, 
HEGSONS) 

• Indicative Surface Water Drainage Details (drawing no. HDC 1061_105, May 2022, HEGSONS) 
• Indicative Surface Water Drainage Strategy (drawing no. HDC 1061_100, May 2022, HEGSONS) 
• Ground Investigation Report (HDC/1061/01, September 2020, HEGSONS) 
• Thames Water Pre-planning enquiry (2nd February 2023, Thames Water) 
• FRA & SuDS Report Addendum No.1 (23rd January 2023, HEGSONS) 
• SuDS Management Plan (23rd January 2023, HEGSONS) 
• Calculations (Storm Sewer Design) 

The LLFA has no objection to the proposed development subject to the following planning condition 
listed below being placed on any planning approval. 

Surface water drainage  

The applicant is proposing to infiltrate via deep borehole soakaways as the primary drainage option 
but is unable to carry out the infiltration rate testing required to determine the viability of this 
method at this stage of the planning process. The applicant has therefore provided details of an 
alternative scheme. The alternative scheme utilises the same attenuation SuDS before discharging 
to a Thames Water foul sewer at 1 l/s. The applicant has provided calculations and details of 
permission to connect in support of this method of surface water disposal. 

Ground investigations 

At detailed design the applicant must conduct infiltration rate tests in order to determine the 
viability of the deep borehole soakaways. Ideally, this should be in the form of a constant head test 
in which a head of water is maintained at the top of the DBS and the flow rate measured to 
determine the actual infiltration rate that can be achieved. The flow volumes used, and duration of 
the test should as far as possible replicate what might reasonably be anticipated during normal 
functioning of the soakaway. 

The applicant will also be required to carry out groundwater monitoring over the winter period 
(October to April) to demonstrate a 1m freeboard between 

Calculations  

The applicant has updated the scheme, so that there is no flooding for the 1 in 100-year plus 40% 
climate change event. The applicant has provided calculations to demonstrate that the alternative 
scheme is viable 

Drainage Layout  

The Indicative Surface Water Drainage Strategy (drawing no. HDC 1061_100) has been updated as 
per the LLFAs previous request. 

Maintenance  

A maintenance schedule for the surface water drainage system has been provided. It details the 
maintenance tasks that shall be carried out and the frequency at which they shall be carried out.  

I would request the following condition be placed on the approval of the application, should this be 
granted by the LPA: 

Condition 1 

No works (other than demolition) shall begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-
geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 63



Planning Authority.  The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

• Assessment of SuDS components as listed in the CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753) and provide 
justification for exclusion if necessary   

• Demonstrate that water quality, ecological and amenity benefits have been considered 

• Water quality assessment demonstrating that the total pollution mitigation index equals or 
exceeds the pollution hazard index; priority should be given to above ground SuDS components  

• Existing and proposed discharge rates and volumes  

• Ground investigations including:  

o Infiltration rate testing at depth of proposed soakaway 

o Groundwater level monitoring over the winter period 

• Subject to infiltration being inviable, the applicant shall demonstrate that an alternative means 
of surface water disposal is practicable subject to the drainage hierarchy as outlined in 
paragraph 056 of the Planning Practice Guidance. 

• SuDS components agreed in the outline application 

• Full construction details of all SuDS and drainage components 

• Detailed drainage layout with pipe numbers, gradients and pipe sizes complete, together with 
storage volumes of all SuDS components 

• Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed drainage system can contain up to the 1 in 30 
storm event without flooding. Any onsite flooding between the 1 in 30 and the 1 in 100 plus 
climate change storm event should be safely contained on site. 

• Details of proposed overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance or failure, 
with demonstration that such flows can be appropriately managed on site without increasing 
flood risk to occupants, or to adjacent or downstream sites. 

• Details of how and when the full drainage system will be maintained, this should also include 
details of who will be responsible for the maintenance 

Reason: The reason for this pre-construction condition is to ensure that a sustainable drainage 
strategy has been agreed prior to construction in accordance with Paragraph 167 and 169 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that there is a satisfactory solution to managing flood 
risk. 

Highways Officer – comments 18.11.22 

Chalkshire Road is a C class road subject to a 30mph speed restriction.  The road does not have 
parking or waiting restrictions and benefits from a pedestrian footway on the near side of the 
highway to the development site. 
  
This application proposes erection of 6(no) 2-bed dwellings and associated works including access. 
 
When considering trip generation, I would expect a dwelling in this location to generate 
approximately 4-6 vehicular movements (two-way) per day.  Therefore, in terms of trip generation 
from the site, the 6(no) dwellings would have the potential to generate approximately 24-36 daily 
vehicular movements (two-way). I am satisfied these movements can be accommodated on the 

Page 64



local highway network.  However, the access arrangements will need to be assessed in order to 
determine its suitability to accommodate the vehicular movements anticipated. 
  
It appears that the site benefits from an existing dropped kerb access from Chalkshire Road, whilst 
it does not appear that the access has been in use for a significant period of time, there is an existing 
legal vehicular access.  Nonetheless, improvements will be made to facilitate better vehicular access 
and egress in to and out of the site. Due to the alterations, I will request that the access meets the 
Council’s Commercial Vehicular Access Within the Highway specifications, which can be secured by 
way of condition. Having assessed the width of the altered access, which measures approximately 
5 metres in width, I am satisfied it is sufficient to allow for safe simultaneous two-way vehicular 
movements.  
  
In accordance with guidance contained within Manual for Streets, visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m are 
required in both directions commensurate with a speed limit of 30mph.  Having reviewed the 
proposed plans, I am satisfied that sufficient visibility splays can be achieved within the publicly 
maintained highway and land owned by the applicant. 
  
I note that the existing hedge fronting the site will be retained, however it appears there are 
instances of the hedge overgrowing further into the highway verge which would restrict visibility 
splays achievable from the access.  As such, I believe it is necessary for a condition to be 
recommended to ensure the area contained within the visibility splays are kept free of any 
obstruction exceeding 0.6m in height. 
  
However, having assessed the visibility splays provided on the proposed site plan, splays 
commensurate with a speed limit of 30mph (i.e. 2.4m x 43m) have not be accurately demonstrated.  
Furthermore, I note the splay in each direction is not taken to the near-side edge of the carriageway 
which would be requested in this instance.  Mindful of this, I would request an additional plan 
demonstrating visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m to the near side carriageway edge to be provided, so 
that it can be accurately determined the extent in which the hedge needs to be maintained. 
  
Having assessed the development using the Buckinghamshire Countywide Parking Guidance (BCPG) 
policy document, the proposed development will generate a parking requirement of 12(no) spaces 
(2(no) spaces for each dwelling). Furthermore, parking space dimensions should measure 2.8m x 
5m.  Whilst I note the level of parking provided is sufficient, the proposed spaces fall short of the 
required dimensions (measured at approximately 2.5m x 5m). The Highway Authority must follow 
these dimensions so that a standard sized family car can safely park clear of the public highway. 
Therefore, I will also request amended plans to demonstrate the proposed parking space 
dimensions measuring 2.8m x 5m. 
 
A turning head has been provided to allow delivery, refuse and emergency services to carry a turning 
manoeuvre within the site, which would ensure they can enter, turn and exit the site in a forward 
gear.  However, it does not appear that a swept path analysis has been provided to demonstrate 
larger vehicles turning. Whilst I am satisfied with the depth of the proposed turning head, I have 
concerns over its width to allow larger vehicles to safely complete a turning manoeuvre. This 
concern would be overcome with the submission of a swept path analysis which demonstrates this; 
therefore, I will also request this is provided in additional plans. 
  
Finally, proposals for residential development generally need to be well connected to non-car 
modes of travel in order to meet the overarching sustainable development principles set out in the 

Page 65



Wycombe Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework.  In this location, there are a limited 
number of daily amenities and public transport options. However, the site is connected to a 
pedestrian footway that can provide a safe connection to bus stops south of the site which provide 
services to Aylesbury and High Wycombe.  Whilst these services are not frequent, they do provide 
an option for residents to travel by other means rather than the private car. In addition, I note the 
provision of cycle storage for each dwelling, would encourage those travelling to and from the 
development to use this sustainable form of transportation. Nonetheless, I trust that the Planning 
Authority will determine the suitability of the site’s location for residential development in relation 
to sustainable transport options and local services. 
  
Mindful of the above, I request that the applicant provide amended plans to include and accomplish 
the following: 
  

• Visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m from the site access, taken to the near side carriageway 
edge. 

• Parking space dimensions measuring 2.8m x 5m. 
• A swept path analysis demonstrating turning manoeuvres of delivery, refuse and 

emergency service vehicles. 

Highways Officer – Comments 30.3.23 

The Highway Authority has previously commented on this application dated 18th November 2022. 
These comments requested additional plans to include and accomplish the following: 

• Visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m from the site access, taken to the near side carriageway edge. 
• Parking space dimensions measuring 2.8m x 5m. 
• A swept path analysis demonstrating turning manoeuvres of delivery, refuse and emergency 

service vehicles. 

I note additional plans have been submitted which the Highway Authority have assessed and will 
provide comments below. 

Firstly, in regard to visibility splays, the amended site plan demonstrates splays of 2.4m x 43m. 
Whilst I note the splay in the northern direction has not been taken to the near side carriageway 
edge, upon further assessment of the highway extents in the area, I am satisfied that full visibility 
splays can be achieved within the publicly maintained highway. However, as mentioned in previous 
comments, there are instances of the hedge overgrowing further into the highway verge which 
would restrict visibility splays achievable from the access. Whilst it is the responsibility of the Council 
to maintain these verges, a condition will be recommended which ensures the areas flanking the 
access will not have any means of enclosure exceeding a height of 0.6 metres, to ensure appropriate 
visibility splays can be maintained. 

Furthermore, in regard to the improved access arrangements, I note that the junction radii 
measures approximately 3m. It should be noted that this will likely be required to be increased to 
4m or 6m to better serve the development, however the details that have been submitted will be 
subject to design, technical checks and supervision under the requisite S184/278 Agreement that 
will allow the works to be constructed within the public highway. 

As confirmed in previous highways comments, the proposed development will generate a parking 
requirement of 12(no) spaces (2(no) spaces for each dwelling). Whilst the previous plans 
demonstrated parking spaces below the required dimensions set out within the Buckinghamshire 
Countywide Parking Guidance policy document (i.e. 2.8m x 5m), having assessed the most recent 

Page 66



plans, I am satisfied that the optimum level of parking has been provided within the site with 
sufficient dimensions. 

Finally, having assessed the swept path analysis that has been provided, I am satisfied that refuse 
and emergency vehicles will be able to enter, turn and exit the site in a forward gear. 

Mindful of the above, I have no objection to the proposals, subject to the following conditions being 
included on any planning consent that you may grant:  

Condition 1: No other part of the development shall be occupied until the existing means of access 
has been provided in general accordance with the approved planning drawing and constructed to 
the appropriate Buckinghamshire Council access standards. 

Reason:  In order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway and of 
the development.  

Condition 2: No wall, fence, hedge or other means of enclosure to be provided along the site 
frontage shall exceed a height of 0.6 metres above the level of the centre line of the access for a 
distance of 3 metres to the northern side of the access, and for a distance of 8 metres to the 
southern side of the access.  

Reason: To provide adequate intervisibility between the access and the existing public highway for 
the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the access. 

Condition 3: The scheme for parking and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall be 
laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that area shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose.  

Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise danger, 
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway.  

Condition 4: Prior to the commencement of any works on the site, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan detailing the management of construction traffic (including vehicle types, 
frequency of visits, expected daily time frames, use of a banksman, on-site loading/unloading 
arrangements and parking of site operatives vehicles) shall be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. Thereafter, the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with such approved management plan.   

Reason:  This is a pre-commencement condition as development cannot be allowed to take place, 
which in the opinion of the Highway Authority, could cause danger, obstruction and inconvenience 
to users of the highway and of the development.   

Informative Points:  

• The applicant is advised that the off-site works will need to be constructed under a Section 
184/278 of the Highways Act legal agreement. This Agreement must be obtained from the 
Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, verge or 
other land forming part of the highway. Please visit the Council’s website for further 
guidance or contact Highways Development Management at the following address for 
information: 

Highway Development Management (Delivery) 
Buckinghamshire Council 
6th Floor, Walton Street Offices 
Walton Street, 
Aylesbury 
Buckinghamshire 

Page 67



HP20 1UY 
highwaysdm@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 

• It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development 
site to carry mud onto the public highway.  Facilities should therefore be provided and used 
on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the site.   

• No vehicles associated with the building operations on the development site shall be parked 
on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction.  Any such wilful obstruction is an 
offence under S137 of the Highways Act 1980.   

 

Strategic Access Officer – comments 1.12.22 

Ellesborough Footpath 13 (ELL/13/2) borders the site on the southern side.  The footpath is 
particularly narrow, less than 1 metre, with insufficient space for two walkers to pass conveniently.  
The Buckinghamshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2020 – 2030 requires double fenced paths 
to be a minimum of 2 metres wide.  Growth of the hedgerow on the southern side of the path in 
summer further reduces the available width.  The plans should be amended to show a clear 2 metres 
width for the footpath, either as a fence to provide a 2 metre path or a hedge with its centre 3 
metres from the fence on the south side of the path. 

Strategic Access Officer – comments 24.3.23 

As the applicant has submitted revised plans securing a 2-metre passage for walkers along 
Ellsborough Footpath 13 (ELL/13/12), I have no further objection to this proposal.  

Conservation Officer 

Recommendation: As the NPPF states, heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and it is 
important to conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance. This proposal complies 
with s.16 and 66 P(LB&CA)A 1990, policy DM31 and DM35 of the WLP, and heritage advice in the 
NPPF. 

Information Considered:  Location Plan; Proposed Site Plan; Heritage Impact Assessment; Design & 
Access Statement. 

The application site comprises a parcel of land on the western extents of Chalkshire Road, Butler's 
Cross, that is currently used for grazing horses. 

The proposal comprises of the construction of three structures, forming six semi-detached 
properties. Access would be obtained off Chalkshire Road, with the proposed dwellings being set 
back beyond existing boundary vegetation, amenity space and a turning head. 

With respect to identified heritage assets, there are three listed buildings in the immediate vicinity, 
the closest of which is Dunrobin House, a Grade II listed building.  The significance of this heritage 
asset is most readily identifiable in views along Chalkshire Road.  However, the immediate setting 
of this heritage asset - predominantly on the opposite side of Chalkshire Road - is dominated by 
20th century linear residential development. This development exhibits limited reference toward 
local vernacular building styles and techniques, and the immediate setting of this heritage asset is 
therefore characterised by significantly evolved growth.    Given that the immediate setting of this 
heritage asset has already been compromised by modern development, the impact of further 
limited development in a similar form would have a negligible impact on this heritage assets 
significance. 

Page 68

mailto:highwaysdm@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


Regarding the impact of the proposed development on Malthouse Farm and Camkins, both Grade 
II listed buildings, given the distance involved and that the wider setting of these heritage assets to 
the south of Chalkshire Road has been subject to linear residential development during the 20th 
century. This may be considered an impingement upon the wider agrarian narrative of this heritage 
asset, albeit to a minor extent given intervening built form, vegetation, and topography, which limits 
direct inter-visibility.   

As such in heritage terms, this proposal is considered acceptable.     

Natural England 

Based on the Plans submitted Natural England considers that the proposed development will not 
have significant adverse impacts on statutory designated sites and has no objections. 

The site is in the Chilterns AONB and the LPA’s decision should be guided by paragraphs 176 and 
177 of the NPPF and any the landscape policies set out in your local plan.  We advise consulting the 
local AONB partnership or conservation board.  You should also have regard to the duty on public 
bodies to have regard to the statutory purpose of the AONB to conserve and enhance the areas 
natural beauty under S85 of the CROW Act 2000.   

Further general advice on consideration of protected species and other natural environment issues 
is also provided. 

Biodiversity Net Gain Officer – comments 15.11.22 

Holding objection.  A Biodiversity Net Gain report is required along with a biodiversity metric to 
demonstrate that the proposal will achieve a biodiversity net gain as required by Policy DM34.   

The site is within the 12.6km Zone of Influence of the Ashridge Commons and Woods Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) component of the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC).  Recommend that Natural England are consulted.    

Biodiversity Net Gain Officer – comments 17.3.23 

Holding Objection – amendment required: 

Biodiversity Impact Assessment (Jan 2023) 

I have reviewed the Biodiversity Impact Assessment and request the following amendment is made. 
I do not believe that ‘other neutral grassland g3c’ is a suitable habitat type for the 0.03ha space 
shown post development. A grassland would need to have at least 9 species per m2 to meet this 
definition and given the location, shading from trees, likely use and management of the amenity 
area shown on the plans I recommend that this is classified as ‘amenity grassland’.  

The BIA evidence’s an onsite loss of biodiversity and proposes to offset the loss via provision of an 
offsite Biodiversity Net Gain Scheme, to be secured via planning obligation. Once the above 
amendment has been provided, I can provide further information in relation to instructing this 
obligation. 

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMMs) contribution 

I note that the applicant has committed to pay £566.23 per dwelling towards Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring (SAMMs) Projects to ensure appropriate mitigation measures are 
adopted to protect the interest features of the SAC. This can be secured via planning obligation. 

Biodiversity Net Gain Officer – comments on updated BIA, Biodiversity Metric and Landscaping 
Plan 26.5.23 

Page 69



No Objection 

Informative for nesting birds provided. Conditions required to secure the following: 

o Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
o Ecological Enhancements 
o Lighting Design Strategy for light-sensitive biodiversity 
o Construction Environmental Management Plan 

Section 106 recommended to secure Biodiversity Net Gain Plan. Further information relating to the 
instruction of the obligation can be provided. 

Documents submitted to inform the application including an updated Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment (BIA) (Ecology by Design, April 2023) and associated Biodiversity Metric 3.1, aerial and 
street photography and site and species records held by the Buckinghamshire & Milton Keynes 
Environmental Records Centre (BMERC) have been reviewed. 

Biodiversity Impact Assessment 

Following our previous comments dated 20th March 2023 regarding the proposed 'other neutral 
grassland g3c', this proposed habitat has been replaced in the BIA and metric with 'modified 
grassland g4' and a target condition of 'good'. This results in an overall net loss of 0.27 habitat units 
(-30.28%), but a gain of 0.39 hedgerow units (+704.49%). This overall net loss is contrary to national 
and local policy policies including 'Policy DM34 - Delivering Green Infrastructure And Biodiversity In 
Development' of the Wycombe District Local Plan (adopted August 2019). 

Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (previously referred to as a Biodiversity Offsetting Scheme) 

As identified previously, there is a net loss in biodiversity that will need to be compensated for by 
creating or enhancing habitat on off-site land (via a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan). A planning obligation 
will be required to ensure a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan is identified and approved before the 
development commences [or other trigger as agreed with the planning officer]. The council's Legal 
Team has draft section 106 wording for this purpose. The Biodiversity Net Gain Plan can include the 
following: 

o Option 1: Financial payment to Buckinghamshire Council to provide the requisite biodiversity 
units 

o Option 2: Find an Offset Site meeting the requirements set out in the Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

o Option 3: Find an Offset Provider (Broker or Habitat Bank) meeting the requirements set out 
within the BNG SPD 

An offset site does not need to be identified prior to decision making if the applicant is committed 
to doing so via Section 106 obligation. 

CONDITIONS 

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan  

No development shall be occupied unless and until the Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content 
of the LEMP shall include the following. 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c) Aims and objectives of management.  

Page 70



d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 
e) Prescriptions for management actions. 
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 

forward over a five-year period). 
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies) 
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or 
remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers 
the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan 
will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure appropriate protection and enhancement of biodiversity, to make appropriate 
provision for natural habitat within the approved development and to provide a reliable process for 
implementation and aftercare. 

Ecological Enhancements 

No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a 
method statement for the installation of 6 bat boxes, 6 bird boxes, hedgehog highways and 
hedgehog dome has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
content of the method statement shall include the:  

a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works; 
b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated objectives 

(including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be used);  
c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps and plans; 
d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed 

phasing of construction; 
e) persons responsible for implementing the works; 
f) initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant); 
g) disposal of any wastes arising from works. 

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained 
in that manner thereafter.  
Reason: To provide enhancements for wildlife species in keeping with local policy DM34. 

Lighting design strategy for light-sensitive biodiversity 

Prior to occupation, a "lighting design strategy for biodiversity" for the site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy shall: 

a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely 
to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting places or along important 
routes used to access key areas of their territory, for example, for foraging; and 

b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate 
lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated 
that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species using their territory or having 
access to their breeding sites and resting places.  

Page 71



All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in 
the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy.  

Reason: Many species active at night are sensitive to light pollution. The introduction of artificial 
light might mean such species are disturbed and/or discouraged from using their breeding and 
resting places, established movement corridors or foraging areas. Such disturbance can constitute 
an offence under relevant wildlife legislation. Limiting negative impacts of light pollution is also in 
line with paragraph 185 of the NPPF. 

Construction Environmental Management Plan 

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a 
construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the 
following. 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or 

reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements). 
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 

oversee works.  
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 

competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that development is undertaken in a manner which ensures important wildlife is 
not adversely impacted. 

Informatives: 

Protection of breeding birds during construction (as per D.3.2.2 of BS42020:2013 Biodiversity – Code 
of practice for planning and development) 

The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended (section 
1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use 
or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution 
under this act. [Buildings, trees, scrub and other vegetation] are likely to contain nesting birds 
between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. [Buildings, trees, scrub and other vegetation] are 
present on the application site and are to be assumed to contain nesting birds between the above 
dates, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess the nesting 
bird activity on site during this period and has shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds are 
not present. 

Arboricultural Officer 

AIA/AMS/TPP are acceptable and can be secured by condition.  

The proposed planting of new trees and hedgerows is acceptable in arboricultural terms, subject to 
the views of the landscape/ecology officer. Landscaping can be secured by condition.  

Page 72



The existing hedgerows bordering Chalkshire Road will currently be afforded some protection under 
the Hedgerows Regs (1997) which will no longer be the case when the sight is developed. Retention 
of hedgerows can be secured (in perpetuity if required) by condition.   

Housing Officer 

On this site of six homes, this would equate broadly to one First Home, four homes affordable for 
rent and one homes for other intermediate/low cost home ownership.  

Shared ownership is the preferred intermediate tenure. Further details of First Homes (constituting 
25% of the affordable dwellings overall), including the discount and local connection criteria, can be 
found in the Bucks Council First Homes Interim Position Statement. 

Note the application is supported by a Housing Needs Survey. 

Would like further information on the wording of any legal agreement. 

The Housing Officer has subsequently confirmed that as a rural exceptions site First Homes would 
not be required.  

Representations 

Amenity Societies/Residents Associations 

Chiltern Society – object to the proposals.  Harmful to the character and appearance of the area.  
Spoil the contribution of the site to the AONB.  Insufficient grounds for dismissing site 1.   

Chiltern Society – amended plans do not overcome our previous objections 

Chilterns Conservation Board – Comments neither object to nor support the application. 

When discharging the planning balance Policy DM25 will need to be  weighed against the legal AONB 
test in CROW and National and Local Policy in the NPPF, WDLP and AONB management plan in 
respect of the conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the Chilterns AONB. 

No landscape assessment was submitted with the application and the LPA will need to satisfy itself 
with regard to landscape impact.  The site is in the Risborough Chalk Foothills Landscape Character 
area and adjacent to a public footpath which forms part of the Aylesbury Ring.  The site sits in a 
green corridor which runs east west across Butlers Cross and a judgement is required as to 
landscape impact.  The siting and location will result in the gap as experienced from the Aylesbury 
Ring and the wider view to the east is diminished, resulting in landscape harm. 

The rural exceptions policy DM25, and NPPF guidance on rural exceptions will also carry weight.  
The AONB Management Plan acknowledges the need for affordable housing in the AONB.  Policy 
DP11 of the AONB Management Plan also carries weight and supports the development of well 
designed small scale homes for people who work within or have long standing family connections 
to the Chilterns AONB where there is an identified local need.   

Although many homes have been permitted in the AONB in recent years very little of it has been 
affordable housing and there have been no rural exceptions schemes in the Chilterns for several 
years.  The supply of affordable housing has dwindled with the Right to Buy and loss of tied housing.  
Sensitively designed conversions, infill, rural exceptions and community led housing schemes in the 
villages of the AONB can benefit the AONB.  The CCB has recently supported a rural exceptions 
scheme in Dacorum BC and is seeking affordable housing provision in a scheme in South 
Oxfordshire.  Each proposal must be determined on its merits.  

We would welcome some reflection on the design, with commentary and ideas drawn from the 
Chilterns Building Design Guide.  The detailing is difficult to ascertain from the plans.   

Page 73



Would welcome clarification with regard to the position in relation to the Chilterns Beechwood SAC.   

Scrutiny of the housing needs evidence is a matter for the LPA, who will need to balance policies in 
the NPPF, Local Plan and AONB Management Plan relating to rural exceptions sites with the impact 
on the Chilterns AONB.   

Other Representations 

Original Plans 

15 comments have been received supporting the proposal:  

• Support the principle of affordable housing in the interest of a balanced community 
• Would allow those with a close link to the community to maintain that link, who would 

otherwise be unable to afford to do so 
• Number of units is small and would be well integrated into the landscape 
• Would attract people not normally regarded as disadvantaged, such as key workers,  
• Poor public transport is common to most rural areas and a reason why even those on low 

incomes own cars 
• Scale of development unlikely to put a strain on local services 
• Much of what is considered an “enhancement” of the village has been built in the last 100 

years and this is a continuation of that process.  Otherwise we would stagnate. 
• Arguing the houses would not be affordable confuses “expensive” with “affordable” and the 

point of offering some houses to rent and others for shared ownership is to make them 
affordable in the current market.  

• Efforts to provide affordable housing should be admired, not condemned. 
• Other affordable housing schemes in the wider area is not a reason to resist affordable 

housing in Ellesborough. 
• Application should be considered on its merits as not endangering the AONB status of the 

village and not setting a precedent, but providing much needed affordable housing.  
• Having worked in the social housing sector am aware of the desperate shortage of affordable 

housing and it is now almost impossible to over provide. 
• Residents likely to be young and contribution to a generational balance. 
• The development would be for people with a local connection which would benefit the village. 
• The village has accommodated such developments in the past that have contributed to what 

the village is today.  This is an organic continuation of those developments.  
• Is sensitively designed and located. 
• Would not set a precedent for further development. 
• Encouraging diversity in the community is likely to be of greater benefit than harm 
• Uncomfortable with the suggestion that affordable housing should take place “elsewhere” 

and never “here” 
• Resisting new housing and only permitting extensions and renovations will subtly but 

irrevocably alter the character of a village and its demographic over time to the detriment of 
the community overall 

• Similar developments locally are of benefit to their communities 
• Proposed development offers positive opportunities which should not be obscured by 

negative opinions 
• Support the scheme provided the design conforms to the Ellesborough Village Design 

Statement and occupation is restricted to people with a connection to Ellesborough 
• The parish has a history of supporting housing for parishioners 
• Creating 6 new homes for people with connections to the village feels like the right thing to 

Page 74



do and will add to our community and allow people from a wide variety of backgrounds to 
stay local. 

• Would add to the future not take away from it. 
• Small developments in villages are a sustainable form of development and an alternative to 

bolting on large developments to towns. 
• Will enhance the community 
• Pleased to see the landscape and habitat plan includes a wide variety of native species. 
• The grass monoculture may be a feature of the AONB but contributes little to biodiversity 
• When I arrived in the village in 1972 there was a wide range of social housing but that is no 

longer the case.  The price of property precludes young families and this is to the detriment 
of the village. 

• There have been a number of needs surveys over the years since the idea of providing a rural 
exceptions site in the village was first proposed 15 years ago, and all have identified a need. 

• Only one landowner was prepared to put forward land, which would be at a cost considerably 
less than land with planning permission (on the open market). 

• Land used would be a very small area, particularly compared to huge swathes being developed 
for HS2.   

• The benefits to generations of parishioners would be considerable. 
• Many of the objections are lifted from a leaflet circulated by a campaign group which objects 

to the development, but which did not fully explain the distinction between affordable 
housing and rural affordable housing. 

• Location is suitable in the heart of the village 
• Have been impressed by the Hastoe development at Redding Court in Great Kimble. 
• NPPF provides an exception on the prohibition of development in the Green Belt for 

affordable housing 
• Church, village hall, allotments, play park and recreation ground are worthy local facilities. 
• Some employment opportunities available at the golf course, pub, brewery and farm shop and 

in agriculture. 
• Will benefit the social and economic well being of the village 
• Long term benefits outweigh any harm to the AONB 
• Are currently very few 2 bedroom properties in the village 
• Often smaller properties are redeveloped into much large houses at greatly inflated prices 

1 comment has been received expressing neither objections or support 

• Concern over access to driveways of nearby properties during construction 
• If the footpath is widened fencing should be appropriate to the area, not a close boarded 

fence. 
• Would not want the footpath to become used by off road vehicles, motorcycles, mountain 

bikes. 
• Concern that development does not assess fire safety risks 

35 comments have been received objecting to the proposal: 

• Site is in the Green Belt 
• Site is in the AONB 
• Loss of open space 
• Detrimental to the character and appearance of the area 
• Site is unsuitable due to lack of facilities and public transport 
• Critical of the housing needs survey and the level of need it has identified 

Page 75



• Alternative site 1 is more suitable, being outside the Green Belt and AONB and has been 
discounted on weak grounds 

• No guarantee it would be occupied by Ellesborough residents 
• Alternative locations for development, e.g. Princes Risborough, are more suitable 
• Ellesborough is not identified as a location for additional housing 
• Could set a precedent for other development in the GB and AONB 
• Too far to walk to Kimble or Wendover stations 
• There is no street lighting in the area 
• Proposal doesn’t justify the exemption from policies which protect the AONB and Green Belt 
• NPPF demands exceptional circumstances for building in the Green Belt and directs 

development to brownfield land first. 
• Great weight is afforded to the protection of the AONB. 
• Needs survey was flawed as it related to the whole parish of Ellesborough, not the specific 

site. 
• Needs survey does not include any assessment of housing costs and affordability in the area 
• Needs survey is inaccurate and misrepresents data. 
• Some households in the parish did not receive a copy of the survey therefore it is not 

representative of all the parish. 
• Questions in the survey were poorly worded and insufficient guidance was given on how to 

complete the form. 
• Analysis of the result of the survey is insufficiently robust. 
• Insufficient investigation of potential occupants current housing situation or financial 

circumstances mean the conclusions on level of need are unsound. 
• Single storey extension at no. 29 Chalkshire Road not shown correctly in relation to the 

footpath. 
• Scheme does not address overlooking from the flank windows towards no. 29.  
• Proposal will result in loss of light to no. 29 Chalkshire Road. 
• Strict parameters were applied to the replacement of no. 29 Chalkshire Road in relation to 

height, position and windows, and the relationship to the footpath. 
• Elevations and styles of the housing area poor. 
• Does not comply with the Ellesborough Village Design Statement or other relevant design 

guidance. 
• Proposal does not comply with Policy DM25 due to lack of access to jobs and services and 

poor public transport 
• Concern over how the development will integrate into the surrounding development. 
• Too many houses for the size of the site. 
• Would be forward of the established building line along the road. 
• Rear gardens are very shallow. 
• Density is approximately 30 dwellings per hectare. 
• 2 metres is insufficient space between dwellings. 
• Row of 12 parking spaces not in accordance with EVDS. 
• No cycle racks or EV charging points shown. 
• Loss of sun to solar panels on the rear roofslope of the garage at no. 29 Chalkshire Road 
• Housing needs survey was not site / project specific 
• There is existing affordable housing in Elm Close and Royal Mead operated by Red Kite.  
• Alternative sites have not been revisited since they were ruled out 5 years ago. 
• Will reduce views across the landscape to the Parish church and other notable locations such 

as Beacon Hill. 

Page 76



• Vision splays may be affected by the hedge and will be affected by cars parking along the road. 
• No details provided of potential pricing / rents to demonstrate the development will be 

affordable.   
• Road speeds often exceed the speed limit. 
• Major development in locations such as Aylesbury and Princes Risborough are delivering 

affordable housing along with scheme in Great and Little Kimble Parish, therefore there is no 
need for affordable housing in Ellesborough. 

• Wycombe District Local Plan allocates sufficient sites to meet housing need to 2033 
• Urbanising impact on the Green Belt 
• Contrary to policies to preserve and enhance the AONB 
• Only one resident is currently on the Homes Choice Register 
• Design and layout will harm the scenic beauty of the AONB and the character of the street 

scene. 
• Road is not suitable for a development of this size opposite other cottages and will cause 

traffic mayhem. 
• Just because it is the only site does not mean it is the best one 
• Scale of houses is not commensurate with other houses in the area 
• Presents a built up frontage to the road which is not characteristic of the area 
• Represents a 5.5% increase in properties on Chalkshire Road 
• Not enough space to create sympathetic landscaping to help the development merge into the 

vista 
• Road is a rat run and do not need more traffic on it which would present a danger to people 

who part their cars on the road. 
• Current level of affordable housing in the area is not given and it is not known if this could 

meet the identified need.  
• New hedging would restrict the view across the fields. 
• Impact on views from the public footpath 
• Would be better to build retirement housing or assisted living accommodation to free up 

family homes which are underoccupied 
• Would support a smaller scheme for 2 houses 
• Could be built on brownfield land at Home Close Farm 
• Special circumstances to justify development in the Green Belt do not exist 
• Search for sites only covered a small part of the parish and their may be other suitable sites 

elsewhere in the Parish 
• Provision of charging points does not mean occupiers will use electric cars 
• Provision of cycle storage does not mean people will give up their cars 
• Allowing people to extend their homes is a better solution 
• Access to Aylesbury is difficult because of the volume of traffic 
• Contrary to Local Plan Policies, including DM42, DM25, DM30, DM32, DM33. 
• Will not the closure of RAF Halton result in the provision of more affordable homes? 
• Potential light pollution from street lighting 
• Difficult to scale the plans 
• Loss of privacy to Southfield Cottages 
• Adverse impact on wildlife 
• Will increase carbon emissions  
• Houses would not be affordable 
 
 

Page 77



Further comments received in relation to First set of amended plans (in addition to comments 
already made above) 

Support 

• Good to have this sort of development in the village 
• Improvements in the amended plans show peoples views are being listened to 
 
Neutral comments 

 
• Concern over how parking regulations will be enforced during construction 
 
Objections 

 
• Object on the same grounds as before 
• Remain opposed to the development 
• Buildings remain unsympathetic 
• Biodiversity Impact Assessment shows loss of habitat 
• Environmental Impact Assessment shows increased recreational pressures with no mitigation 
• Retained access to the adjacent field is not needed 
• Majority of parishioners do not support affordable housing, as stated by supporters of the 

proposals 
• Footpath has not been widened sufficiently to allow for the hedge 
• Alternative options for development suggested 
• Conflict between retention of hedge and provision of vision splays 
• Concern over the impact of the borehole soakaway on surrounding properties  
• Support the concerns raised over landscape impact raised by others 

 
Further comments received in relation to second set of amended plans (in addition to comments 
already made above) 

 
Support   
• Continue to support the application for reasons previously stated 
 
Objection 

 
• Object to the loss of trees adjacent to the footpath 
• Concern over the suggested highway condition requiring part of the hedge to be cut back 
• Hedge does not appear to be within the application site 
• Amended plans do not address previous concerns or comply with the village design statement 
• Amendment of the plans is irrelevant as the majority of parishioners object to the proposals 
• Great weight should be given to parishioners views 
• Flank windows should not be openable and should be obscurely glazed 
• Remain opposed to the development 
  

Page 78



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 
 

Report to West Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: 22/08199/R9FUL 

Proposal: Installation of replacement lighting and ancillary works 

Site Location: The Guildhall 
Cornmarket 
High Wycombe 
Buckinghamshire 
HP11 2AY 
 

Applicant: Mr Charles Brocklehurst 

Case Officer: Chris Lamb 

Ward(s) affected: Abbey 

Parish-Town Council: High Wycombe Town Unparished 

Date valid application received: 5th January 2023 

Statutory determination date: 2nd March 2023 

Recommendation Application Permitted 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation / Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 Planning consent is sought for the installation of replacement lighting and other minor 
ancillary works to the undercroft of The Guildhall, Cornmarket. A separate application 
for listed building consent accompanies this application.  

1.2 The application has been made on behalf of Buckinghamshire Council and has 
therefore, for reasons of transparency, been called to committee for determination.  

1.3 Following the submission of further details by the agent, it is considered that the works 
would not result in harm or damage to the existing historic fabric or building more 
generally. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in heritage terms and there 
are no further concerns with the application. 

1.4 The application is recommended for approval. 

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 The application relates to The Guildhall, a Grade I Listed Building and iconic structure 
within the High Wycombe Town Centre Conservation Area. The building is sited within 
a prominent location which contributes significantly to the character and appearance 
of the high street.  

Page 81

Agenda Item 6

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


2.2 The ground floor is an openly accessible undercroft, which is used by the market on 
market days. It is acknowledged that the undercroft is looking tired and in need of a 
facelift.  

2.3 The application proposes the installation of miniature LED lights to the ceiling of the 
undercroft, replacing the 15 existing bulkhead light fittings which are unsympathetic. 
Additionally, the application proposes the redecoration of the undercroft ceiling, 
minor pigeon deterrent measures, and the replacement of some of the high level 
electrical outlets so as to improve the appearance of the undercroft area. 

2.4 The application is accompanied by: 

a) Design, Access and Heritage Statement 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
Reference Development Decision  Decision Date 

  

96/07198/R9FUL 
 

 
 

Construction of two storey rear 
extension with interior 
modifications and external 
works 

PER  20 March 1997 

 97/05179/LBC 
 

 
 

Construction of two storey rear 
extension with interior 
modifications and external 
works 

PER  23 July 1997 

 98/05232/R9FUL 
 

 
 

Use of land for the siting of 2 
market stalls at junction of 
Paul's Row and Church Street 
and use of land for the siting of 
3 market stalls next to the 
Guildhall 

PER  4 June 1998 

   
22/08200/LBC 

 
Listed building consent for 
installation of replacement 
lighting and ancillary works 

PCO  
 

4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

Principle and Location of Development 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP1 (Sustainable Development), CP3 
(Settlement Strategy), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy 
Generation) 
DSA: DM1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development), DM6 (Mixed-use 
development) 

4.1 Minor external alterations in this location would be considered acceptable in principle 
subject to complying with all other relevant Development Plan policies.   

Transport matters and parking 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation) 
DSA:  DM2 (Transport requirements of development sites) 

Page 82



4.2 The replacement lighting would be sited to the ceiling of the undercroft, suspended 
within the ceiling recesses between the first floor support structure. 

4.3 Given that the lighting would be suspended within the ceiling recesses, it is proposed 
that the individual lights would be suspended approximately 25mm higher than the 
crown of the perimeter arches, thus shielding the lights from passing motorists.  

4.4 Given the positioning and moderate proposed luminance of the lighting (between 200-
400 lux), it is not considered that the lights would have any negative impact on 
adjacent highway users.  

Raising the quality of place making and design 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of place), DM34 (Delivering Green 
Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development), DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure)  

4.5 Currently, the undercroft is looking tired and in need of a facelift. The existing bulkhead 
lighting is not of a sympathetic style whilst it and the surface mounted cables are not 
of the quality or character appropriate for the building. Their removal is therefore 
welcomed. The existing finish to the undercroft ceiling comprises a white, glossy paint 
which is also incongruous.  

4.6 The proposal aims to enhance the visual appearance of the building, providing more 
effective and attractive lighting of the undercroft area whilst also improving the 
building’s daytime appeal.  

4.7 It is considered that the proposed replacement lighting and ancillary works would 
represent a visual improvement on the existing arrangement, to the benefit of the 
character and appearance of the building and wider high street area.  

Amenity of existing and future residents 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality) 

4.8 The proposal is not considered to give rise to any negative impacts to adjoining 
occupiers.  

Ecology 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA:  DM13 (Conservation and enhancement of sites, habitats and species of biodiversity 
and geodiversity importance), DM14 (Biodiversity in development) 

4.9 Policy DM34 requires all development to protect and enhance both biodiversity and 
green infrastructure features and networks both on and off site for the lifetime of the 
development. 

4.10 No assessment has been provided with this proposal. In this instance, given the nature 
of the proposal there would be no impact on site biodiversity, whilst enhancement is 
not considered proportionate. 

Historic environment (or Conservation Area or Listed Building Issues) 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of place), CP11 (Historic 
Environment), DM20 (Matters to be determined in accordance with the NPPF), DM31 
(Development Affecting the Historic Environment) 

4.11 The Guildhall is a Grade I Listed Building and as such, the Council’s Heritage team have 
been consulted as part of the application.  

Page 83



4.12 As described above, the proposed development is considered in principle to represent 
a visual enhancement in appearance terms, replacing the existing poor lighting and 
rejuvenating the appearance of the undercroft thorough redecoration and the 
installation of more attractive light fittings.  

4.13 Concerns were however originally raised regarding the method of fixing, which would 
result in approximately 100 fixing points into areas of the undercroft, potentially into 
historic fabric, namely timber beams supporting the floor above.  

4.14 Following the submission of further information by the agent, it should be noted 
however that The Guildhall underwent significant structural alterations during the 
1990s, in which the structure supporting the first floor was reinforced twice. Thus, it 
has been concluded that the ceiling structure is now most likely made from modern 
fabric and replacement timbers, whilst the void between the ceiling and floor structure 
above is large enough that fixings for the proposed lights are very unlikely to come 
near the historic floor timbers further above.  

4.15 The additional information submitted by the agent has been reviewed by the Council’s 
Conservation Officer and it has been concluded that there is a very low risk that the 
light fittings would damage historic timbers/structure. As such, it is not considered that 
the method of fixing would result in any undue harm to the historical integrity of the 
building, subject to conditioning the exact number and location of fixings.  

4.16 All further aspects of the proposal are considered to be acceptable, and overall the 
propped development is considered to be a welcome addition which would enhance 
the public experience of The Guildhall and high street more generally. 

4.17 As per the comments of the Conservation Officer, details of the fixings, blending 
colour/artwork and paint finish should however be secured by condition so as to 
achieve a satisfactory external appearance and ensure the proposal appropriately 
conserves the special interest of the Listed Building. 

5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

5.1 This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to 
weigh and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on 
the application. 

5.2 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 
Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

5.3 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 
the development plan policies.  

5.4 Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due 
regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from 

Page 84



socio-economic disadvantage.  In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal 
would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent. 

6.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

6.1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF, Buckinghamshire Council (BC) 
approach decision-taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to 
development proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to 
secure developments. BC work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive 
manner by offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating 
applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application. In 
this instance the agent was provided with an opportunity to submit further 
information/clarification in support of the proposal. Sufficient information/clarification 
was subsequently received such that the application could be recommended for 
approval. 

7.0 Recommendation 

7.1 Application Permitted 

Subject to the following conditions and reasons: - 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (As amended). 

 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be built and retained in accordance 

with the details contained in the planning application herby approved and plan 
numbers BC1, BC2 and BC3, unless the Local Planning Authority otherwise first 
agrees in writing. 
Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure a satisfactory 
development of the site. 

 
3 The materials used for the development shall be of those specified in accordance 

with the details submitted within the supporting documentation and plans, 
unless otherwise stated or agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance. 

 
4 Prior to the installation of the LED lighting, details of the number and precise 

location of fixings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details only, unless otherwise specified in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to safeguard the architectural and historic fabric of the Listed 
Building and conserve its special interest. 

 
5 Prior to the redecoration/repainting of the undercroft, details of the 'blended 

transition' as described in Section 11 of the submitted Design, Access and 
Heritage Statement, including colour and appearance - and any further artwork 
beyond the description specified in said section - shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 

Page 85



development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details only, 
unless otherwise specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance and conserve the special 
interest of the listed building. 

 
6 Notwithstanding any indication of finish which may have been given in the 

application, a matt or eggshell paint finish shall be used for the redecoration, 
unless the Local Planning Authority otherwise first agrees in writing.  
Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance and conserve the special 
interest of the listed building. 

 

 

 

  

Page 86



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 

Councillor Comments 

No comments received.  

Parish/Town Council Comments 

High Wycombe Town Unparished 

Consultation Responses: 

Conservation and Listed Buildings Officer: 

No Objections, subject to conditions: 

Initial Comments: 
Recommendation: the application complies with heritage policies and guidance, subject to 
conditions. 
 
Information Considered: 
Heritage, Design and Access Statement 
Site plan 
Block plan 
Proposed ceiling layout plan 
 
The Guildhall is a grade I listed building and an iconic structure within the High Wycombe Town 
Centre Conservation Area.  The ground floor is openly accessible and used by the market on market 
days. 
 
It is acknowledged that the undercroft is looking tired and in need of a facelift.  The bulkhead lighting 
is not of a sympathetic style for a building of this importance.  The proposed works seeks to improve 
the appearance of this area as follows: 
 
1. Replacement lighting 

As stated, the existing lighting and surface mounted cables are not of the quality or character 
appropriate for the building and their removal is welcomed.  The 15 replacement light frames would 
be suspended within the existing framework of ceiling downstands.  The level of the frames/lights 
would be a minimum of 25mm above the perimeter arches so that they are not visible from outside 
the building.  Each frame would be fixed by threated eyebolt to mounting plates: the number of 
fixings is not identified but presumably as a minimum to each corner and at mid points.  The number 
of fixings is therefore in the region of 100. 
 
The DAS states that the fixings will not affect historic structure as the building underwent major 
structural repair in the 1990s, including replacement steel supports to the first floor, with EML and 
modern plaster ceilings.  In views of the undercroft the modern fabric is readily apparent although 
the underlying age and condition of structure is not known. Limited opening up was explored prior 
to the application but the findings were inconclusive.   
 

Page 87



The proposed lighting and frames are reversible and acceptable in principle provided that they are 
attached to modern fabric as proposed, avoiding placing loading on historic fabric. As the underlying 
structure has not been confirmed, any consent should condition this approach.  
 
2. Redecoration 

Modern, glossy white paint has been applied to the undercroft which is also incongruous in 
character.  The proposed colour scheme is for a dark blue breathable paint.  This should have a matt 
or eggshell finish.   The sides of the undercroft will be painted white and blended so that there is a 
transition in colour. 
 
3. Pigeon deterrents 

The internal column capitals are wider than the posts they encase, creating pigeon roosts.  Boxing 
the posts out in 12mm plywood is reversible and will improve the proportions of the columns.   
 
4. Replacement services 

The removal of obsolete modern fittings and where necessary their replacement with smaller 
modern fittings is welcome.  Fixings should drill into the mortar rather than historic brickwork as it 
is easier to make good.  Cables will be surface mounted on existing routes and should be painted to 
match the ceiling decoration to minimise visibility.  
 
The works aim to present the building better for the enjoyment of residents and visitors to High 
Wycombe.  Provided the light frame mountings are fixed to modern fabric, the works are all 
reversible and improve the appearance of the building.  Consequently, it is acceptable subject 
conditions: 
 
In order to conserve the special interest of the listed building the following details should be 
submitted to the council: 

o Number and location of fixings 
o Confirmation of the underlying structure composition and materials  
o Artwork for the ceiling decoration and blending of the colours 
o Matt or eggshell paint finish is required for the redecoration 

Following the comments of the Conservation Officer, further information/details were requested 
regarding the fixings to seek confirmation that these would not be attached to historic 
fabric/materials. Following the submission of said details, the final comments of the Conservation 
Officer were as follows: 

I tend to agree with the agent’s findings given the appearance and planning history concerning the 
undercroft of the Guildhall.  As such, there is a very low risk that the light fittings would damage 
historic timbers/structure.  The proposal would therefore be capable of being reversed in 
accordance with conservation principles. 

 
Historic England: 
Comment: 

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case we are not 
offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on the merits of the application. 

Page 88



We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers. You 
may also find it helpful to refer to our published advice at 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/find/  

It is not necessary to consult us on this application again, unless there are material changes to the 
proposals. However, if you would like advice from us, please contact us to explain your request. 

Representations 

None received.   

Page 89

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/find/


APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 

 

Page 90



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 
 

Report to West Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: 23/06128/FUL 

Proposal: Householder application for construction of single storey 
detached outbuilding for use as home office/gym 

Site Location: 48 Eastwood Road 
Stokenchurch 
Buckinghamshire 
HP14 3SW 

Applicant: Miss Victoria Burdett 

Case Officer: Harmeet Minhas 

Ward(s) affected: Ridgeway West 

Parish-Town Council: Stokenchurch Parish Council 

Date valid application received: 2nd May 2023 

Statutory determination date: 27th June 2023 

Recommendation Application Permitted 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a garden room for use 
as a gym/home office. The application proposal is considered to be incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse and would not significantly impact on the landscape 
character of the Chilterns AONB.  

1.2 The application site is within the designated Chilterns AONB. The street scene and 
general pattern of development to the north and west of the site is residential and 
developed in character, with open land to the south. Ancillary buildings and 
development within gardens are considered to be an established form of development 
that contribute to the character of plots and their respective dwellings within the 
immediate vicinity.  

1.3 The building is proposed to be located at the deepest point of the garden and a 
reasonable distance from the neighbouring properties as not to warrant any concerns 
over a loss of amenity. No representations from neighbours or local residents were 
received at the time of drafting this report.  

1.4 The applicant is an Officer of Buckinghamshire Council and as such, the proposal falls 
to be considered by the Planning Committee.  

Page 91

Agenda Item 8

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


1.5 The application is recommended for approval subject to appropriate conditions 
relating to the use of appropriate materials and biodiversity net gain measures to 
compensate for the loss of part of the existing garden land.  

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a detached garden 
room. The garden room would measure approx. 6.5m x 6m with an overall height of 
3m at the highest point of the pitched roof.  

2.2 The proposed building is to be used as a home office and gym, incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse.  

2.3 The application is accompanied by: 

a) Design and Access Statement 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
Reference Development Decision  Decision Date 

  

89/07167/FUL SINGLE STOREY FRONT 
EXTENSION 

PER  16 October 1989 

4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

Principle of Development/Transport Matters and parking/Place Making and 
Design/Landscape 
Principle and Location of Development 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP1 (Sustainable Development), CP3 
(Settlement Strategy), CP4 (Delivering Homes), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, 
Transport and Energy Generation)  
DSA: DM1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development), DM6 (Mixed-use 
development). Bledlow cum Saunderton Neighbourhood Plan- Policy 7 and 8 (Sustainable 
Design in the Green Belt and Rural Diversification) 

4.1 The application site is located within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
There is no in-principle policy based objection to the erection of a detached 
outbuilding within the curtilage/garden of a residential dwelling.  

4.2 The proposed building would be of a size, scale and use that would be considered 
incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse.  

4.3 As such, no concerns are raised with relation to the principle or location of 
development within the site.  

Transport matters and parking 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP7 (Delivering the infrastructure to support 
growth), DM33 (Managing Carbon Emissions, Transport and Energy Generation) 
DSA:  DM2 (Transport requirements of development sites) 

4.4 The application proposal would result in the erection of built form within the private 
garden of the existing plot. The proposed use would be unlikely to result in an 
intensification of use of the site, or a demand for increased parking provision. As such, 
no policy based concerns are raised with relation to parking capacity within the site or 
the safety of highways users.  

Page 92



Raising the quality of place making and design 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): CP9 (Sense of place), DM34 (Delivering Green 
Infrastructure and Biodiversity in Development), DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality) 
DSA: DM11 (Green networks and infrastructure), DM16 (Open space in new development) 
Housing intensification SPD 

4.5 The application site is located within an existing residential developed area. Ancillary 
buildings located within the rear garden of dwellings form part of the pattern of 
established development within the vicinity and contribute towards the character of 
area in general.  

4.6 The introduction of the proposed garden room would not go against the grain or 
pattern of development identified within the vicinity. The building would be of a 
reasonable size and scale that would not detract from the host building, or the 
appearance of the garden within which it sits.  

4.7 The sensitive use of materials, notably timber cladding, would ensure the building 
retains and respects its parasitic use and appearance within the plot. On balance the 
proposal would not detract from the character of the host dwelling or the wider area.  

Amenity of existing and future residents 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM35 (Placemaking and Design Quality), DM40 
(Internal space standards)  

4.8 The proposed building would be located at the deepest point of the garden serving the 
dwelling. There would be a reasonable distance between the garden room and the 
neighbouring properties as not to adversely impact the amenities of their dwelling or 
private gardens.  

Landscape and visual Impact  
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM30 (The Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty) 

4.9 Policy DM30 of the Wycombe District Local Plan (2019) sets out that development 
within the Chilterns AONB will be required to a) conserve, and where possible enhance, 
the natural beauty of the Chilterns AONB. 

4.10 The proposed garden room would be located within the backdrop of a developed part 
of the Chilterns AONB. The overall scale and appearance of the building would not 
appear at odds with the existing pattern of development and would not have a 
detrimental impact on the beauty of the Chilterns AONB, ensuring it is conserved at a 
minimum.  

Ecology 
Wycombe District Local Plan (August 2019): DM34 (Delivering Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity in Development) 
DSA:  DM13 (Conservation and enhancement of sites, habitats and species of biodiversity and 
geodiversity importance), DM14 (Biodiversity in development)   

4.11 Policy DM34 requires all development to protect and enhance both biodiversity and 
green infrastructure features and networks both on and off the site for the lifetime of 
the development. 

4.12 The proposal would result in the loss of garden land which could provide a degree of 
biodiversity opportunity. In lieu of this it would not be unreasonable of the LPA to seek 
biodiversity net gain measures in the form of bird and bat boxes within the site to 

Page 93



ensure compliance with the aims of Policy DM34. In the event planning permission is 
forthcoming, such a condition could form part of any decision notice. 

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

4.13 This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to 
weigh and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on 
the application. 

4.14 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 
Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

4.15 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 
the relevant policies appropriate to the assessment of this application. 

4.16 Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due 
regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from 
socio-economic disadvantage.  In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal 
would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent]. 

5.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

5.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2021) the Council approach decision-
taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments. 

5.2 The Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applicant/agents 
of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  

5.3 In this instance: 

• the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was 
required. 

• The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 
application.  

6.0 Recommendation 

6.1 The application is recommended for APPROVAL, subject to the following conditions 
and reasons: 

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (As amended). 

Page 94



 
 2 The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the details 

contained in the planning application hereby approved and plan numbers 
2314/1, 2314/2, 2314/3 and 2314/4; unless the Local Planning Authority 
otherwise first agrees in writing. 

 Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure a satisfactory 
development of the site. 

 
 3 The materials to be used for the external surfaces, including walls, roofs, doors 

and windows shall be of the same colour, type and texture as those specified 
within the approved plans and application form, unless the Local Planning 
Authority otherwise first agrees in writing.  

 Reason: To secure a satisfactory external appearance. 
  
 4 Prior to the first use/occupation of the building a bat box and bird box shall be 

installed within the site in a location appropriate for their use. They shall 
thereafter be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

 Reason: To comply with the requirement to achieve a net gain in biodiversity 
through ecological enhancements in line with policy DM34. 

 
INFORMATIVE(S) 

 1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF2 Buckinghamshire Council approach decision-
taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure developments.  
Buckinghamshire Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applications/agents of any 
issues that may arise in the processing of their application. 

 

  

Page 95



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 

Parish/Town Council Comments 

None received at the time of drafting this report 

Representations 

None received at the time of drafting report. 
  

Page 96



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 
 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee agenda
	Membership:
	Webcasting notice


	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes
	West Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee minutes
	Agenda Item



	4 21/08463/FUL - 280 Main Road, Walters Ash, Buckinghamshire, HP14 4TH
	1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
	2.0 Description of Proposed Development
	3.0 Relevant Planning History
	4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation
	5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
	6.0 Working with the applicant / agent
	7.0 Recommendation

	5 22/07562/FUL - OS Parcel 1332 Chalkshire Road, Butlers Cross, Buckinghamshire
	1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
	2.0 Description of Proposed Development
	3.0 Relevant Planning History
	4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation
	5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
	6.0 Working with the applicant / agent
	7.0 Recommendation

	6 22/08199/R9FUL - The Guildhall, Cornmarket, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP11 2AY
	1.0 Summary & Recommendation / Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
	2.0 Description of Proposed Development
	3.0 Relevant Planning History
	4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation
	5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
	6.0 Working with the applicant / agent
	7.0 Recommendation

	8 23/06128/FUL - 48 Eastwood Road, Stokenchurch, Buckinghamshire, HP14 3SW
	1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
	2.0 Description of Proposed Development
	3.0 Relevant Planning History
	4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation
	5.0 Working with the applicant / agent
	6.0 Recommendation


